
 

Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 
Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 1 - Y Senedd 

Dyddiad: Dydd Iau, 10 Mai 2018 

Amser: 09.15

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Llinos Madeley 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddPPIA@cynulliad.cymru
------ 

Rhag-gyfarfod preifat  

(09:15 - 09:30) 

 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

(09:30) 

   

2 Gwaith Ieuenctid - dilyniant - sesiwn dystiolaeth 1 

(09:30 - 10:30) 

 (Tudalennau 1 - 37)  

Cyngor Cymreig y Gwasanaethau Ieuenctid Gwirfoddol (CWVYS) 

Joff Carroll, Is-Gadeirydd CWVYS a Phrif Swyddog Gweithredol Clybiau 

Bechgyn a Merched Cymru 

Marco Gil-Cervantes, Trysorydd CWVYS a Phrif Swyddog Gweithredol ProMo 

Cymru 

Catrin James, Cydlynydd Rhanbarthol CWVYS 

Paul Glaze, Prif Swyddog Gweithredol CWVYS 

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Briff Ymchwil 

CYPE(5)-14-18 - Papur 1 - Llythyr gan y Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu 

Gydol Oes 

CYPE(5)-14-18 – Papur 2 - Cyngor Cymreig y Gwasanaethau Ieuenctid 

Gwirfoddol (CWVYS) (Saesneg yn unig) 

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



Egwyl  

(10:30 - 10:45) 

 

3 Gwaith Ieuenctid - dilyniant - sesiwn dystiolaeth 2 

(10:45 - 11:30) (Tudalennau 38 - 50)  

 

Grŵp Prif Swyddogion Ieuenctid Cymru (PYOG) 

Tim Opie,  Swyddog Polisi Dysgu Gydol Oes (Ieuenctid), Cymdeithas 

Llywodraeth Leol Cymru 

Joanne Simms, Cadeirydd PYOG a Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Ieuenctid, Blaenau 

Gwent  

Steve Davis, Is-Gadeirydd PYOG a Rheolwr Gwasanaethau, Ieuenctid Sir 

Benfro 

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

CYPE(5)-14-18 - Papur 3 - Grŵp Prif Swyddogion Ieuenctid Cymru (PYOG) 

(Saesneg yn unig) 

 

4 Gwaith Ieuenctid - dilyniant - sesiwn dystiolaeth 3 

(11:30 - 12:15) (Tudalennau 51 - 75)  

 

Plant yng Nghymru ac Ieuenctid Cymru 

Catriona Williams OBE – Prif Weithredwr, Plant yng Nghymru 

Chris Richards, Swyddog Datblygu, Young Wales - Plant yng Nghymru 

Emma Chivers, Cadeirydd Bwrdd yr Ymddiriedolwyr - Ieuenctid Cymru 

Julia Griffiths, Prif Swyddog Gweithredol ar y Cyd dros dro - Ieuenctid Cymru  

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

CYPE(5)-14-18 - Papur 4 - Plant yng Nghymru (Saesneg yn unig) 

CYPE(5)-14-18 - Papur 5 - Ieuenctid Cymru (Saesneg yn unig) 

 



5 Papurau i'w nodi 

 

5.1 Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg - rhagor o wybodaeth am y 

Grŵp Rhanddeiliaid Adnoddau Addysgol Dwyieithog 

 (Tudalennau 76 - 77)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

CYPE(5)-14-18 - Papur i'w nodi 1 

 

5.2 Llythyr gan y Gweinidog Gofal Cymdeithasol a Phlant – rhagor o wybodaeth 

yn dilyn y cyfarfod ar 18 Ebrill 

 (Tudalennau 78 - 80)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

CYPE(5)-14-18 - Papur i'w nodi 2 

 

6 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42(ix) i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod 

(12:15)   

 

7 Gwaith Ieuenctid - dilyniant - trafod y dystiolaeth a ddaeth i law 

(12:15 - 12:30)   

 



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) iv o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Eluned Morgan AC/AM 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes  
Minister for Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Eluned.Morgan@llyw.cymru 

Correspondence.Eluned.Morgan@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref MA-P-EM-0341-18 

Lynne Neagle AC 
Cadeirydd 
Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 

15 Chwefror 2018 

Annwyl Lynne, 

Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 18 Ionawr yn ymwneud â gwaith dilynol y Pwyllgor Plant, 
Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg ar yr Ymchwiliad i Waith Ieuenctid. Roeddwn innau hefyd yn 
croesawu’r cyfarfod gyda chi ym mis Tachwedd ac rwy’n ddiolchgar i chi am amlinellu dull 
gweithredu arfaethedig y Pwyllgor. Rwyf hefyd yn croesawu ymrwymiad y Pwyllgor i graffu’n 
barhaus ar ganfyddiadau’r ymchwiliad hwn, sy’n helpu i sicrhau proffil gwaith ieuenctid a’r 
broses o ddatblygu polisi cryf i gefnogi’r gwaith o’i gyflawni. 

Mae’n bleser gennyf allu darparu diweddariad llawn ar y cynnydd a wnaed yn erbyn 
argymhellion y Pwyllgor ac, ar ôl imi gael cyfle i ystyried amrywiaeth o dystiolaeth, gallaf 
bennu fy argymhellion ar gyfer cyflawni rhaglen waith uchelgeisiol. Mae’r tabl a atodir yn 
Atodiad A yn dangos manylion y cynnydd a wnaed a’r camau nesaf. Fodd bynnag, yn 
gryno, ac mewn ymateb i ddiweddariadau penodol y gofynnwyd amdanynt yn eich llythyr, 
gallaf ddarparu’r canlynol: 

‘Ymestyn Hawliau’ a’r Strategaeth Genedlaethol ar gyfer Gwaith Ieuenctid, a sefydlu’r 
Bwrdd Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Gwasanaethau Cymorth Ieuenctid 

Gofynnodd cyn Weinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes i Margaret Jervis, MBE DL, 
adolygu Ymestyn Hawliau a, thrwy wneud hynny, gwneud argymhellion ar y ffordd ymlaen 
ar gyfer gwaith ieuenctid yng Nghymru. Mae Margaret wedi cwblhau ei gwaith, mewn 
partneriaeth â phobl ifanc a rhanddeiliaid ar draws y sector, ac wedi cyflwyno adroddiad i 
mi. Mae’r adroddiad yn cynnwys naw argymhelliad ac mae fy swyddogion, gyda chymorth y
Grŵp Cyfeirio Gwaith Ieuenctid, eisoes wedi dechrau ymchwilio i sut y gellid ymgorffori’r
egwyddorion a nodwyd gan Margaret mewn arferion yn y dyfodol. Yr hyn sy’n glir i mi o
waith Margaret yw, er iddo gael ei gwblhau yng nghyd-destun ac ethos Ymestyn Hawliau,
sydd â goblygiadau ar gyfer rhwydwaith eang o wasanaethau cymorth ieuenctid amrywiol,
mae’n ymdrin yn bennaf â sicrhau dull strategol, newydd o ymdrin â gwaith ieuenctid. Felly,
dyma’r maes rwy’n bwriadu canolbwyntio arno o ran ein hymdrechion cychwynnol.

CYPE(5)-14-18 - Papur 1

Tudalen y pecyn 16

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Eluned.Morgan@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Eluned.Morgan@gov.wales


Nid yw’n fwriad gennyf gychwyn proses o ddiweddaru’r canllawiau statudol ar unwaith. Yn 
gyntaf, mae’n rhaid inni sefydlu dull strategol gyflawni gwaith ieuenctid yng Nghymru sydd, 
yn fy marn i, yn chwarae rôl hanfodol o ran sicrhau canlyniadau i’n pobl ifanc. Cynhaliwyd 
adolygiad o’r Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid gyfredol gan Brifysgol Glyndŵr Wrecsam, 
Prifysgol Metropolitan Caerdydd, a Susanne Rauprich OBE, ac mae’r canfyddiadau yn glir: 
cafodd pethau eu cyflawni ond collwyd gormod o gyfleoedd.  Rwy’n bwriadu cyhoeddi eu 
hadroddiad maes o law gan ei fod yn darparu gwersi hanfodol wrth inni gychwyn ar ein 
camau nesaf: datblygu Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid newydd ar gyfer Cymru. 

Fel y nodwyd yn Atodiad A rwyf wedi gofyn i’m swyddogion, mewn partneriaeth â’r Grŵp 
Cyfeirio Gwaith Ieuenctid, ddechrau cwmpasu’r gwaith o ddatblygu’r strategaeth newydd 
hon ar unwaith. Caiff ei chyd-greu gyda phobl ifanc a’r sector ac mae’n nodi’r camau sydd 
eu hangen i gyflawni gweledigaeth hirdymor ar gyfer gwaith ieuenctid yng Nghymru. Wrth 
gyflawni’r weledigaeth hirdymor hon, mae’n rhaid iddi aros yn ddigon hyblyg er mwyn 
caniatáu iddi allu ymateb i dirweddau cymdeithasol ac economaidd sy’n newid, felly bydd yn 
destun proses gynllunio ac adolygu flynyddol fanwl. Byddaf yn gofyn i’m swyddogion roi 
diweddariadau rheolaidd imi ar gynnydd a byddaf yn parhau i gadw llygad fanwl ar y gwaith 
hwn i sicrhau y caiff ei gyflawni’n amserol.  

Cynhwysir amserlen ddrafft ar gyfer sicrhau bod y strategaeth newydd hon yn cael ei 
chyflawni ar ddiwedd Atodiad A. Fodd bynnag, rwy’n ymrwymedig i wrando ar farn pobl 
ifanc a’r sector, gan gynnwys gwrando ar gyngor y Grŵp Cyfeirio Gwaith Ieuenctid. O 
ystyried hyn, bydd y gwaith o ddatblygu’r strategaeth yn broses ailadroddol, gan ymateb i 
dystiolaeth sy’n dod i’r amlwg a’i haddasu fel y bo’n briodol. Mae’r amserlen ddrafft hefyd yn 
nodi’r terfynau amser arfaethedig ar gyfer penodi Bwrdd Interim ar gyfer Gwaith Ieuenctid. 
Ymrwymodd cyn Weinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes i Fwrdd Gwasanaethau Cymorth 
Ieuenctid ac rwy’n bwriadu cyflawni’r cylch gwaith ehangach hwn yn y tymor hwy. Fodd 
bynnag, fel y nodwyd gennyf, fy mwriad yw sicrhau dull gweithredu strategol ar gyfer gwaith 
ieuenctid yng Nghymru yn gyntaf. Caiff y Bwrdd, felly, ei benodi dros dro yn y lle cyntaf a 
gofynnir iddo flaenoriaethu gwaith ieuenctid. Bydd yn gwneud hyn yng nghyd-destun y 
rhwydwaith ehangach o wasanaethau cymorth ieuenctid a thrwy wneud hynny, byddant yn 
dechrau ystyried angen, a chylch gwaith posibl, bwrdd neu gorff a fydd yn gyfrifol am y 
sbectrwm mwy hwn o wasanaethau yn y dyfodol.   

  

Asesiadau o Ddigonolrwydd Gwaith Ieuenctid  

Mewn ymateb i’r argymhelliad penodol hwn sefydlodd y swyddogion weithgor gyda 
chynrychiolwyr o’r sectorau statudol a gwirfoddol. Ei nod oedd ymchwilio’n fanylach i werth 
posibl asesiadau digonolrwydd ar gyfer gwaith ieuenctid. Daeth y grŵp i’r penderfyniad: 

 bod angen i un ddogfen strategol genedlaethol drosfwaol fod ar waith sy’n nodi cyfeiriad 
y polisi ar gyfer gwaith ieuenctid yng Nghymru, ac y dylai adran o’r strategaeth drosfwaol 
hon ddisgrifio beth yw Gwasanaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid “digonol”; 

 bod angen cysylltu set o Safonau â’r ddogfen strategol drosfwaol hon, ac y byddent yn 
feincnodau penodol ar gyfer digonolrwydd; a 

 nes bod y rhain ar waith, ni ddylid cyflwyno asesiadau digonolrwydd ar gyfer gwaith 
ieuenctid. 

 

Rwy’n parhau i fod yn ymrwymedig i’r cysyniad o gynnal asesiadau digonolrwydd yng 
nghyd-destun gwaith ieuenctid. Fodd bynnag, gan ystyried penderfyniadau’r grŵp, mae’n 
amlwg bod yn rhaid iddynt fod yn ystyrlon ac nid yn haen ychwanegol o fiwrocratiaeth yn 
unig. Felly, cânt eu cynllunio, eu datblygu, eu gweithredu a’u hadolygu mewn partneriaeth â 
phobl ifanc a’r sectorau statudol a gwirfoddol. Mae’n rhaid gwneud hyn yn ystod y broses o 
ddatblygu ein Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid newydd ar gyfer Cymru er mwyn sicrhau 
cyfatebiaeth. Dylai nod yr asesiadau fod yn ddatblygiadol eu natur h.y. ble rydym ni nawr, 
ble mae angen i ni fod, a sut byddwn yn cyrraedd yno. Felly, dylent gefnogi proses 
hunanwerthuso gonest a chynllunio cryf mewn partneriaeth.  Tudalen y pecyn 17



 

Datblygu fframwaith atebolrwydd ar gyfer defnydd awdurdodau lleol o gyllid ar gyfer gwaith 
ieuenctid drwy’r grant cynnal refeniw  

Cadarnhaodd fy rhagflaenydd fod y Grant Cynnal Refeniw yn ffrwd gyllido heb ei neilltuo y 
gellid ei gwario yn ôl disgresiwn awdurdodau lleol ac yn unol â’u hanghenion/blaenoriaethau 
lleol. Yn ymarferol, byddai’n anodd iawn dadansoddi lefelau’r Grant Cynnal Refeniw a 
ddyrennir yn benodol er mwyn cyflawni gwaith ieuenctid. Mae hyn am fod ffrydiau cyllido yn 
aml yn cael eu cyfuno i gyflawni prosiectau, a dyrennir adnoddau mewn dull sy’n cefnogi 
hyblygrwydd amrywiaeth o wasanaethau sy’n gweithio gyda phobl ifanc. Mae yna hefyd y 
mater sy’n ymwneud â ‘digonolrwydd darpariaeth’, ac nid oes diffiniad cytûn ar ei gyfer ar 
hyn o bryd. Fel y nodwyd gennyf, rwyf wedi gofyn i’m swyddogion weithio gyda phobl ifanc a 
rhanddeiliaid gwaith ieuenctid i ddatblygu strategaeth hirdymor ar gyfer gwaith ieuenctid. Fel 
rhan o’r dull gweithredu hwn, byddaf yn gofyn iddynt ddod i gytundeb ar y cyd ar yr hyn sy’n 
cynrychioli darpariaeth gwaith ieuenctid ddigonol i bobl ifanc. Gyda hynny ar waith, bydd y 
strategaeth newydd yn nodi’r camau sydd eu hangen ar bob lefel o’r system i gyflawni’r 
ddarpariaeth hon, yn ogystal â diffinio trefniadau atebolrwydd priodol. 
 
Sicrhau mynediad i Erasmus+ 
 
Yn bersonol rwy’n ymwybodol o’r manteision a’r cyfleoedd sydd ar gael i Gymru yn sgil 
mynediad i Erasmus+ a byddaf yn parhau i hyrwyddo dull gweithredu sy’n rhoi ein 
blaenoriaethau wrth wraidd y mater. Rydym yn parhau i roi pwysau ar Lywodraeth y DU am 
gyfranogiad parhaus yn y rhaglen Erasmus+, a Rhaglenni UE eraill sy’n arbennig o bwysig i 
Gymru, ar ôl i’r DU adael yr Undeb Ewropeaidd.  
 
Yn gryno, rwy’n croesawu’r cyfle i roi diweddariad ichi ar y cynnydd a wnaed yn erbyn 
argymhellion y Pwyllgor a’r gwerth ychwanegol a ddaw yn sgil y broses graffu hon. Yn fuan, 
byddaf yn gwneud cyhoeddiad sy’n amlinellu’r camau a nodwyd yn y llythyr hwn ac yn 
darparu mwy o fanylion. Rwyf hefyd yn edrych ymlaen at gael diweddariad ar eich gwaith 
ymgynghori gyda rhanddeiliaid gwaith ieuenctid ar yr adeg briodol.  
   
Yn gywir 
 

 
 
Eluned Morgan AC/AM 

Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes 
Minister for Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 18



Atodiad A 
 

  

 Argymhelliad y Pwyllgor  Derbyniwyd/derbyniwyd 
mewn egwyddor  

Safle cyfredol.  

1 Dylai'r Gweinidog adolygu'r 
Strategaeth Genedlaethol ac 
adnewyddu'r canllawiau statudol 
mewn ymgynghoriad â rhanddeiliaid 
a phobl ifanc. Rhaid i gynllun 
gweithredu manwl ar gyfer 
gweithredu, gan gynnwys 
amserlenni, gael ei ddatblygu ochr 
yn ochr â strategaeth newydd 
 

Derbyniwyd Rydym wedi: 

 Comisiynu Prifysgol Glyndŵr Wrecsam, Prifysgol Metropolitan 
Caerdydd, a Susanne Rauprich OBE, i adolygu effaith y 
Strategaeth Genedlaethol ar gyfer Gwaith Ieuenctid. 
Derbyniwyd adroddiad terfynol ac mae’n cael ei baratoi i’w 
gyhoeddi. Llywiwyd y gwaith hwn gan randdeiliaid a phobl 
ifanc. 

 Comisiynwyd Margaret Jervis, MBE DL, i adolygu Ymestyn 
Hawliau. Cyflwynwyd adroddiad terfynol ac mae’n cael ei 
baratoi i’w gyhoeddi. Llywiwyd y gwaith hwn gan randdeiliaid a 
phobl ifanc. 

 Comisiynwyd y Grŵp Cyfeirio Gwaith Ieuenctid (YWRG), sy’n 
cynrychioli’r sector gwaith ieuenctid, gan ddarparu cyngor i 
Lywodraeth Cymru, i adolygu argymhellion Margaret a chynnig 
ffordd ymlaen.  

 
Byddwn yn: 
 

 Dechrau datblygu Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid uchelgeisiol 
newydd ar unwaith. 

 Sicrhau bod gweledigaeth hirdymor yn cael ei hymgorffori o 
fewn y strategaeth, gyda phrosesau cynllunio blynyddol manwl, 
hunanwerthuso, ac adolygu. 

 Cyd-adeiladu’r strategaeth gyda phobl ifanc a rhanddeiliaid ar 
bob lefel yn y system. 

 Cyhoeddi Adolygiad Margaret, ‘Adolygiad o Effaith y 
Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid’, ac adolygiadau cysylltiedig o 
gyllid grant  

 Ymgorffori gwersi a ddysgwyd, gan gynnwys o Ymchwiliad y 
Pwyllgor, ochr yn ochr â thystiolaeth ehangach yng Nghymru, y 
DU a thu hwnt. 

 Seilio ein dulliau gweithredu yn gadarn o fewn Confensiwn y 

T
udalen y pecyn 19



 Argymhelliad y Pwyllgor  Derbyniwyd/derbyniwyd 
mewn egwyddor  

Safle cyfredol.  

Cenhedloedd Unedig ar Hawliau’r Plentyn a Deddf Llesiant 
Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol. 

 Ailsefydlu Cynnig/Siarter Gwaith Ieuenctid wrth wraidd y 
strategaeth newydd. 

 Cynnwys ystyriaeth o’r mater ‘digonolrwydd darpariaeth’, a rôl 
cyrff eraill fel darparwyr gwasanaeth, rheoleiddwyr, 
awdurdodau lleol, a Llywodraeth Cymru wrth sicrhau 
atebolrwydd cadarn. 

 Datblygu ein hymagweddau yng nghyd-destun ac ethos 
Ymestyn Hawliau, gyda’r bwriad o ystyried statws canllawiau 
statudol cyfredol, ar ôl i’r dull gweithredu strategol ar gyfer 
sicrhau gwaith ieuenctid gael ei ddatblygu mewn partneriaeth â 
rhanddeiliaid. 

 Sefydlu Bwrdd Gwaith Ieuenctid Interim i gefnogi’r gwaith o 
ddatblygu’r strategaeth, gwerthuso dulliau gweithredu ar gyfer 
dosbarthu adnoddau, cynrychioli llais y sector, a darparu 
cyngor i Lywodraeth Cymru.  

 Cyhoeddi amserlen sy’n nodi sut/pryd y caiff hyn ei gyflawni. 
 

2 Dylai'r Gweinidog gynnal 
trafodaethau brys â'r Grŵp Cyfeirio 
Gwaith Ieuenctid Gweinidogol i fynd 
i'r afael â'r pryderon o fewn y sector 
ynghylch diffyg ymgysylltiad gan 
Lywodraeth Cymru. 

Derbyniwyd Rydym wedi: 

 Cynnal trafodaethau brys ar lefel Weinidogol gyda’r Grŵp 
Cyfeirio Gwaith Ieuenctid. 

 Diweddaru cylch gwaith y grŵp ac wedi dechrau ymestyn eu 
haelodaeth. 

 Cydnabod y rôl allweddol y mae’n ei chwarae wrth gefnogi’r 
sector a Llywodraeth Cymru wrth gyflawni a gweithredu’r polisi. 

 Rhoi’r dasg iddo o ystyried yr adroddiad drafft a gynhyrchwyd 
gan Margaret Jervis, MBE DL. 

 Defnyddio ei arbenigedd a’i wybodaeth i lywio’r gwaith o 
ddatblygu cwricwlwm newydd i Gymru.  

 Derbyn adborth cadarnhaol gan y Grŵp Cyfeirio Gwaith 

T
udalen y pecyn 20



 Argymhelliad y Pwyllgor  Derbyniwyd/derbyniwyd 
mewn egwyddor  

Safle cyfredol.  

Ieuenctid ar y dull gweithredu newydd hwn. 
 
Byddwn yn: 

 Parhau i ddefnyddio’r Grŵp Cyfeirio Gwaith Ieuenctid yn 
strategol, gydag ymgysylltiad rheolaidd gan Lywodraeth Cymru  
i lywio’r gwaith o ddatblygu dulliau gweithredu. 

 Comisiynu’r Grŵp i ddechrau gwaith i gefnogi Llywodraeth 
Cymru i ddatblygu Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid newydd ar 
gyfer Cymru. 

 Sicrhau aliniad â’r Bwrdd Gwaith Ieuenctid Interim arfaethedig, 
wrth iddo ddatblygu a gweithredu. 
 

3 Dylai fod llwybr clir ac ystyrlon i bobl 
ifanc fod yn bartneriaid cyfartal wrth 
ddatblygu gwasanaethau ieuenctid 
yng Nghymru. Dylai hyn gael ei 
ddatblygu gan y Gweinidog, 
rhanddeiliaid a phobl ifanc.  

Derbyniwyd Rydym wedi: 

 Sicrhau yr ymgysylltwyd ac yr ymgynghorwyd â phobl ifanc fel 
rhan o’r ‘Adolygiad o Effaith y Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid’. 

 Sicrhau yr ymgysylltwyd ac yr ymgynghorwyd â phobl ifanc fel 
rhan o adolygiad Margaret Jervis’ o Ymestyn Hawliau. 

 Comisiynu Plant yng Nghymru i gynnal darn penodol o waith 
gyda phobl ifanc i lywio gwaith Margaret. 

 Cynnal trafodaethau gyda’r Grŵp Cyfeirio Gwaith Ieuenctid i 
archwilio sut y gall pobl ifanc lywio’r gwaith o ddatblygu 
Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid uchelgeisiol newydd ar gyfer 
Cymru. 

 
 
Byddwn yn: 

 Cynnwys pobl ifanc yn y broses o gyd-greu’r Strategaeth 
Gwaith Ieuenctid newydd ar gyfer Cymru. 

 Ystyried y rôl y byddant yn ei chwarae wrth gynllunio, cyflawni 
a monitro gwaith ieuenctid o fewn y Strategaeth newydd a 
chyfleu hynny. 

T
udalen y pecyn 21



 Argymhelliad y Pwyllgor  Derbyniwyd/derbyniwyd 
mewn egwyddor  

Safle cyfredol.  

 Datblygu cynllun ymgysylltu, mewn partneriaeth â phobl ifanc a 
rhanddeiliaid, i sicrhau bod yr argymhelliad hwn yn parhau i 
gael ei fodloni’n llawn yn y dyfodol. 
 

4 Dylai'r Gweinidog gyflwyno model 
cenedlaethol ar gyfer gwaith 
ieuenctid, sy'n cwmpasu darpariaeth 
statudol a gwirfoddol. Dylai'r 
Gweinidog adrodd i'r Pwyllgor hwn 
ar gynnydd o fewn chwe mis i 
gyhoeddi'r adroddiad hwn. 

Derbyniwyd Rydym wedi: 

 Comisiynu Margaret Jervis i gynnal adolygiad o Ymestyn 
Hawliau, a oedd yn cynnwys rhoi ystyriaeth i ‘fodel 
cenedlaethol’ sy’n cwmpasu darpariaeth statudol a gwirfoddol. 

 Comisiynu Adolygiad o Effaith y Strategaeth Genedlaethol ar 
gyfer Gwaith Ieuenctid sy’n gwneud argymhellion ar y ffordd 
ymlaen. 

 Ystyried y canfyddiadau hyn sy’n cynnig ‘modelau’ posibl ar 
gyfer cyflawni yn y dyfodol.  

 
Byddwn yn: 

 Dechrau ar y gwaith o ddatblygu Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid 
uchelgeisiol newydd ar unwaith, gan gynnwys ystyried model 
cyflawni priodol. 

 Penodi Bwrdd Gwaith Ieuenctid Interim, y bydd ei gylch gwaith 
yn cynnwys cefnogi’r gwaith o ddatblygu a gweithredu 
strategaeth newydd, a darparu cyngor ar ddulliau cyflawni 
priodol. 

 Ymestyn cylch gwaith ac aelodaeth y Grŵp Cyfeirio Gwaith 
Ieuenctid, gan ymestyn gwahoddiad i gynrychiolwyr strategol o 
awdurdodau lleol, gan sicrhau bod y strategaeth newydd yn 
cydbwyso uchelgeisiau a’r gallu i gyflawni yn y cyd-destun 
cyfredol. 

 Sicrhau ein bod yn gwrando ar farn darparwyr statudol a 
gwirfoddol fel rhan o’r gwaith datblygu. 

 

5 Dylai'r Gweinidog adrodd yn ôl i'r 
Pwyllgor o fewn chwe mis i 

Derbyniwyd mewn Rydym wedi: 

T
udalen y pecyn 22



 Argymhelliad y Pwyllgor  Derbyniwyd/derbyniwyd 
mewn egwyddor  

Safle cyfredol.  

gyhoeddi'r adroddiad hwn ar sut y 
mae'n bwriadu asesu i ba raddau y 
mae ei ymrwymiad i ddarpariaeth 
ddwyieithog mynediad agored, 
cyffredinol, yn Gymraeg ac yn 
Saesneg, yn cael ei gyflawni. 

Egwyddor  Adrodd yn ôl i’r Pwyllgor a chydnabod bod tirwedd gwaith 
ieuenctid yn newid yng nghyd-destun hinsawdd ariannol heriol. 

 Derbyn y rôl y gallai ‘Asesiadau Digonolrwydd’ ei chwarae wrth 
asesu i ba raddau y mae darpariaeth fyd-eang, mynediad 
agored, yn Gymraeg a Saesneg, yn cael ei chyflawni. 

 Dechrau archwilio’r rôl y bydd ‘Asesiadau Digonolrwydd’ yn ei 
chwarae yn y dyfodol. 

 
Byddwn yn: 

 Ymgorffori’r syniad o ‘ddigonolrwydd darpariaeth’ a’r asesiad 
ohono o fewn y Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid newydd ar gyfer 
Cymru.  

 Ailddatgan ein hymrwymiad i’r rôl y gall gwaith ieuenctid ei 
chwarae wrth gefnogi pobl ifanc i ddefnyddio a datblygu eu 
sgiliau Cymraeg. 

 Ymgysylltu â phobl ifanc wrth ddatblygu’r strategaeth newydd i 
ddatblygu dealltwriaeth gyfredol o’u hanghenion mewn 
perthynas â’r math o wasanaethau ieuenctid yr hoffent gael 
mynediad iddynt, yn yr iaith a ffefrir ganddynt.  

6 O fewn chwe mis i gyhoeddi'r 
adroddiad hwn, dylai'r Gweinidog 
gomisiynu ymarfer i fapio 
darpariaeth gwaith ieuenctid 
gwirfoddol ledled Cymru. Dylid 
adnewyddu'r ymarfer o bryd i'w 
gilydd. 

Derbyniwyd mewn 

Egwyddor 

Rydym wedi: 

 Ystyried yr ymarfer i fapio darpariaeth gwaith ieuenctid 
gwirfoddol a gynhaliwyd gan CWVYS (2015) mewn perthynas 
â’r Fframwaith Ymgysylltu a Datblygu Ieuenctid, a Corris Bright 
(2016). 

 Adrodd yn ôl i’r Pwyllgor gan nodi efallai nad yw ymarfer mapio 
cenedlaethol yn briodol o ystyried y cyd-destun sy’n newid yn 
gyflym wrth i wasanaethau newid ac addasu. 

 Nodi ein hymrwymiad i’r cysyniad o ‘ddigonolrwydd darpariaeth’ 
a’r asesiad ohono wrth gynllunio, cyflawni a monitro 
gwasanaethau ieuenctid. 

 

T
udalen y pecyn 23



 Argymhelliad y Pwyllgor  Derbyniwyd/derbyniwyd 
mewn egwyddor  

Safle cyfredol.  

Byddwn yn: 

 Ymgorffori’r syniad o ‘ddigonolrwydd darpariaeth’ a’r asesiad 
ohono o fewn y Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid newydd ar gyfer 
Cymru. Er mwyn sicrhau hyblygrwydd o fewn tirwedd sy’n 
datblygu, dylai unrhyw asesiad roi ystyriaeth i ddarpariaeth 
statudol a gwirfoddol ar lefel leol yn hytrach na chenedlaethol. 
 

7 Dylai'r Gweinidog sicrhau bod 
asesiadau o ddigonolrwydd gwaith 
ieuenctid yn cael eu cynnal gan 
awdurdodau lleol fel rhan o'r 
asesiadau o anghenion y 
boblogaeth ac adrodd yn ôl i'r 
Pwyllgor ar gynnydd o fewn chwe 
mis i gyhoeddi'r adroddiad hwn. 

Derbyniwyd mewn 

egwyddor 

Rydym wedi: 

 Derbyn rôl bosibl ‘Asesiadau o Ddigonolrwydd’ yn y gwaith o 
gynllunio, cyflawni a monitro darpariaeth gwasanaethau 
ieuenctid. 

 Sefydlu gweithgor ym mis Tachwedd 2017 i gadarnhau sut y 
gallai’r rhain weithio yng Nghymru, gan ddysgu o ddulliau a 
roddwyd ar waith yn y sector Chwarae. 

 Pennu bod gofyniad ar gyfer asesu er mwyn sicrhau bod angen 
y gwasanaethau a ddarperir o fewn ardal awdurdod lleol, bod y 
gwasanaethau hynny o’r maint cywir ac yn cael eu darparu gan 
y sefydliad mwyaf perthnasol. 

 Ymchwilio i sut beth fyddai asesiad a dod i’r canlyniad, yn 
absenoldeb gweledigaeth a Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid 
hirdymor newydd, sy’n mynd â ni y tu hwnt i 2018, nad yw’n 
bosibl cadarnhau dull i’w roi ar waith ar unwaith. 

 
Byddwn yn: 

 Ymgorffori’r syniad o ‘ddigonolrwydd darpariaeth’ a’r asesiad 
ohono o fewn y Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid newydd ar gyfer 
Cymru.  

 Cyd-greu’r Strategaeth mewn partneriaeth â phobl ifanc a 
rhanddeiliaid. 

 Sicrhau cytundeb ar draws y sector o ran y defnydd o 
Asesiadau o Ddigonolrwydd wrth gynllunio, cyflawni a monitro 

T
udalen y pecyn 24



 Argymhelliad y Pwyllgor  Derbyniwyd/derbyniwyd 
mewn egwyddor  

Safle cyfredol.  

darpariaeth gwasanaethau ieuenctid fel rhan o’r strategaeth 
newydd. 

8 Dylai'r Gweinidog ddatblygu 
fframwaith atebolrwydd ar gyfer 
defnydd awdurdodau lleol o arian ar 
gyfer gwaith ieuenctid drwy'r grant 
cynnal refeniw. Dylai'r fframwaith 
gynnwys sancsiynau os na 
chyflawnir y canlyniadau 

Derbyn mewn Egwyddor Rydym wedi: 

 Cadarnhau bod y Grant Cynnal Refeniw yn ffrwd gyllido heb ei 
neilltuo y gellid ei gwario yn ôl disgresiwn awdurdodau lleol ac 
yn unol a’u hanghenion a blaenoriaethau lleol.  

 Cadarnhau nad yw’n bosibl ar hyn o bryd nodi faint gaiff ei 
wario ar waith ieuenctid, o ganlyniad i gronni cyllidebau ar 
draws gwasanaethau ar lefel leol, na rhagfynegi’r swm chwaith. 

 Adolygu ein ffrydiau cyllid grant cyfredol i ystyried sut y gallant 
gefnogi’r canlyniadau a ddymunir yn well mewn perthynas â 
gwaith ieuenctid a gwasanaethau cymorth ieuenctid. 

 Dechrau rhoi newidiadau ar waith i ddulliau cyllid grant, gan 
sicrhau mwy o ffocws ar effaith, yn hytrach na chanlyniad. 

 Ymchwilio i fframwaith canlyniadau ar gyfer gwaith ieuenctid 
yng nghyd-destun y strategaeth bresennol.  

 
Byddwn yn: 

 Cyhoeddi adolygiadau o’r Grantiau Gwaith Ieuenctid. 

 Parhau i ddysgu oddi wrthynt drwy eu hadolygu’n rheolaidd. 

 Sefydlu Bwrdd Gwaith Ieuenctid Interim i gefnogi’r gwaith o 
ddatblygu Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid newydd, a chynghori ar 
ddulliau o ddefnyddio adnoddau yn briodol, gan gynnwys 
unrhyw ganlyniadau anfwriadol. 

 Sicrhau cytundeb ar draws y sector i ddefnyddio ‘Asesiadau 
Ddigonolrwydd’ yn y gwaith o gynllunio, cyflawni a monitro 
darpariaeth gwaith ieuenctid fel rhan o’r strategaeth newydd. 
Bydd hyn yn cynnwys ystyried eu rôl o fewn fframwaith 
atebolrwydd newydd ar gyfer gwasanaethau ieuenctid ar draws 
awdurdod lleol a darpariaeth wirfoddol. 

  

T
udalen y pecyn 25



 Argymhelliad y Pwyllgor  Derbyniwyd/derbyniwyd 
mewn egwyddor  

Safle cyfredol.  

9 Dylai'r Gweinidog archwilio parhad 
cyllid posibl Erasmus+, os bydd 
Llywodraeth y DU yn penderfynu 
peidio â gwneud hynny, 

Derbyniwyd mewn 

egwyddor 

Rydym wedi: 

 Cadarnhau ein hymrwymiad tuag at ddull yn seiliedig ar 
dystiolaeth tuag at adael yr UE. 

Byddwn yn: 

 Parhau i hyrwyddo dull gweithredu sy’n rhoi lle canolog i 
flaenoriaethau Cymru, gan ymateb i flaenoriaethau’r DU gyfan 
ar yr un pryd. 

 Parhau i drafod â’n cymheiriaid o fewn Llywodraeth y DU, gan 
ymdrin â rôl cyllid Erasmus+ yng nghyd-destun y DU  
 

10 Dylai'r Gweinidog sicrhau bod y 

sector gwaith ieuenctid statudol a 

gwirfoddol yn chwarae rhan ganolog 

yn y broses o ddiwygio'r cwricwlwm.  

Derbyniwyd Rydym wedi: 

 Cadarnhau cynrychiolaeth o’r sector statudol a gwirfoddol ar y 
Grŵp Rhanddeiliaid Strategol ar gyfer Diwygio Addysg. 

 Ymgysylltu â’r Grŵp Cyfeirio Gwaith Ieuenctid (gyda 
chynrychiolwyr o’r sectorau statudol a gwirfoddol) gyda’r broses 
o Ddiwygio’r Cwricwlwm. 

 
Byddwn yn: 

 Parhau i sicrhau dulliau priodol o sicrhau bod y sector gwaith 
ieuenctid statudol a gwirfoddol yn chwarae rôl ganolog yn y 
broses o ddiwygio’r cwricwlwm. 

 Ystyried a mynegi’r cysylltiadau a’r aliniad rhwng addysg ffurfiol 
a gwaith ieuenctid yn y Strategaeth Gwaith Ieuenctid newydd 
ar gyfer Cymru.  

 

T
udalen y pecyn 26



Atodiad A 
 

  

Amserlen Ddrafft  
 

 Chwefror Mawrth Ebrill Mai Mehefin Gorffennaf Awst Medi Hydref Tachwedd Rhagfyr 
Digwyddiadau  Cynhadledd 

Gwaith 
Ieuenctid  

  Wythnos 
Gwaith 
Ieuenctid  
 
Gwobrau 
Gwaith 
Ieuenctid  

     Lansio’r 
Strategaeth 
Gwaith 
Ieuenctid 
Newydd  

Cyhoeddiadau  Cyhoeddi’r 
gwaith 
adolygu a 
gynhaliwyd, 
gan gynnwys 
y grantiau a’r 
Strategaeth 
Gwaith 
Ieuenctid 
gyfredol 
2014-2018 

        Cyhoeddi’r 
Strategaeth 
Gwaith 
Ieuenctid 
Newydd 

Bwrdd Interim   Cyhoeddi’r 
broses o 
recriwtio 
Cadeirydd ar 
gyfer y 
Bwrdd 
Gwaith 
Ieuenctid  

  Penodi 
Cadeirydd 
i’r Bwrdd 
Gwaith 
Ieuenctid 
Interim  

Nodi 
Aelodaeth y 
Bwrdd 
Interim  

Penodi 
Aelodau 
i’r Bwrdd 
Interim  

    

Strategaeth 
Gwaith 
Ieuenctid 
Newydd  

Cwmpasu 
[Grŵp 
Cyfeirio 
Gwaith 
Ieuenctid] 

Ystyried 
tystiolaeth 
[Grŵp 
Cyfeirio 
Gwaith 
Ieuenctid] 
 
Ymgysylltu 
cychwynnol 
â phobl ifanc 
a’r sector 

Rhanddeiliaid 
a mapio 
polisi  

Cyd-greu Strategaeth gwaith Ieuenctid newydd ar gyfer Cymru. 
I’w datblygu mewn partneriaeth â phobl ifanc a rhanddeiliaid. 

 
 

Cwblhau’r 
strategaeth 
ddrafft  

Cwblhau’r 
strategaeth 

Lansio’r 
strategaeth 

 

T
udalen y pecyn 27



CYPE(5)-14-18 – Papur 1  

 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales 

Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg | Children, Young People and Education Committee 

Gwaith Ieuenctid – gwaith dilynol | Youth Work - Follow up 

YW(2) 02 

Ymateb gan: Cyngor Cymreig y Gwasanaethau Ieuenctid Gwirfoddol 

Response from: Council for Wales of Voluntary Youth Services 

 

Committee Recommendation 1:  

The Minister should review the National Strategy and refresh the statutory guidance in 

consultation with stakeholders and young people. A detailed action plan for 

implementation, including timescales, must be developed alongside a new strategy. 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Commissioned Wrexham Glyndwr University, Cardiff Metropolitan University, and 

Susanne Rauprich OBE, to review the impact of the National Youth Work Strategy. A 

final report has been received and is being prepared for publication. This work was 

informed by stakeholders and young people.  

– Commissioned Margaret Jervis, MBE DL, to review Extending Entitlement. A final 

report has been submitted and is being prepared for publication. This work was 

informed by stakeholders and young people.  

– Commissioned the Youth Work Reference Group (YWRG), who represent the youth 

work sector, providing advice to Welsh Government, to review Margaret’s 

recommendations and propose a way forward.  

We will:  

– Immediately begin development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy.  

– Ensure a long term vision is built into the strategy, with detailed annual planning, 

self-evaluation, and review.  

– Co-construct the strategy with young people and stakeholders at all levels in the 

system.  

– Publish Margaret’s Review, the ‘Review of the Impact of the Youth Work Strategy’, 

and associated reviews of grant funding Embed lessons learned, including from the 

Committee’s Inquiry, alongside wider evidence in Wales, the UK and beyond.  

– Firmly ground our approaches in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the 

Child and the Wellbeing for Future Generations Act.  

– Re-establish a Youth Work Offer/Charter at the centre of the new strategy.  

– Include consideration of ‘sufficiency of provision’, and the role of other bodies such 

as service providers, regulators, local authorities, and Welsh Government in 

ensuring rigorous accountability.  

– Develop our approaches in the context and ethos of Extending Entitlement, with a 

view toward considering the status of existing statutory guidance, once the 

strategic approach for securing youth work has been developed in partnership with 

stakeholders. 

– Establish an Interim Youth Work Board to support the development of the strategy, 

Tudalen y pecyn 28



 

 

evaluate approaches for deploying resources, represent the voice of the sector, and 

provide advice to Welsh Government.  

– Publish a timeline setting out how/when this will be delivered.  

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 1: 

This response, and all others that follow, are presented on behalf of CWVYS. 

We note that the WG officials have set out a fairly detailed work plan, which includes 

timescales, towards the development of a new National Youth Work Strategy for 

Wales. We welcome that attempt at clarifying the steps which need to be taken as 

well as the inclusion of the youth work sector in those developments and delivery 

points. 

The review of the National Strategy was well-received and its acknowledgement of 

the roles played by the voluntary youth work sector is welcomed.      

We would take issue with the notion of a Strategy being ‘aspirational’ and might 

argue that previous versions of policy and strategic documents have too frequently 

fallen victim to such language and subsequent activity. If a new Strategy is to 

achieve better outcomes for young people and support of those who seek to 

provide those better outcomes, then it needs to be meaningful, based upon 

implementation and therefore accountable. 

Discussions at the Youth Work Reference Group (which is co-Chaired by Keith 

Towler (Chair of CWVYS) and also attended by Paul Glaze) have resulted in a view 

that a 10-year Strategy is not only a positive ambition but a necessity if it is to meet 

the needs of young people and the sector. We should like this 10-year term to be 

clarified as the ‘long-term vision’. 

We strongly believe that any ‘Youth Work Charter’ written into the new Strategy 

should not merely be an assumption of the ‘Wales Charter for Youth Work’: a 

document that is now out of date but one which was also never presented to young 

people as an ‘offer’. We would suggest that  the Minister might like to present an 

opportunity for young people to directly help shape a ‘Charter’.     

The WG says it will ‘include consideration of ‘sufficiency of provision’…’ but omits 

the voluntary youth work sector from the list of ‘other bodies’. CWVYS requests that 

this omission be rectified as a matter of course.   

We also welcome Margaret Jervis’s review of ‘Extending Entitlement’ and support its 

findings and recommendations.  

CWVYS supports the forming of an Interim Youth Work Board and recognises that 

the impending appointment of a Chair and its members will be of critical 

importance in support of the development of a new Strategy but also in support of 

youth work more generally. 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Quality Mark for Youth Work in Wales  

- Has been re-commissioned by the Welsh Government for 2018/19 via Atkins 

Tudalen y pecyn 29



 

 

Associates.  

- Given that undertaking the QM is not a compulsory activity and that other 

QMs with wider reach and more widely known beyond Wales i.e. Investors in 

People; PQASSO are available , some CWVYS member organisations have 

questioned the need to spend another significant sum on the delivery of the 

QM. 

- CWVYS supports the overall development of this Quality Mark (QM) but is 

keen to learn more about the plans for sustainability of this programme, its 

relevance to the youth work sector in general and whether those plans are 

likely to include a procurement process in order to establish the QM as part of 

the National Strategy for Youth Work considerations.   

Youth Information services 

- The Youth Work Reference Group has recently discussed youth information 

services within the context of a future National Youth Work Strategy. This is a 

positive move and serves to show just how critically important that 

information services for young people are in the development of the Strategy 

but also how integral they are to the delivery of good, positive youth work and 

to the engagement of young people. 

Workforce Development 

- It is acknowledged that this topic covers a wide area but there is little being 

discussed about the need to invest in an appropriate, timely and future-

proofed workforce development plan for the youth work sector. Without that 

investment, planning and long-term support on behalf of the workforce (paid 

and unpaid), any future Strategy will not achieve its ambitions.  

- An example from Scotland: The Scottish Government entrusts YouthLink 

Scotland (representative body for both the voluntary and maintained sectors) 

with £500k per annum with which to directly address sector-led workforce 

development needs. 

-  

Committee Recommendation 2: 

The Minister should hold urgent discussions with the Ministerial Youth Work Reference 

Group to address the concerns from within the sector about a lack of engagement from 

Welsh Government. 

Accepted by the Welsh Government  

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Held urgent discussions at Ministerial level with the Youth Work Reference Group. 

– Refreshed the remit of the group and begun extending their membership. 

– Recognised the key role they play in supporting both the sector and Welsh 

Government in delivering and implementing policy. 

– Tasked them with considering the draft report produced by Margaret Jervis, MBE DL. 

Tudalen y pecyn 30



 

 

– Drawn on their expertise and knowledge to inform the development of the new 

curriculum for Wales. 

– Received positive feedback from the Youth Work Reference Group on this new 

approach. 

We will:  

– Continue to use the Youth Work Reference Group strategically, with regular 

engagement from Welsh Government to inform developing approaches. 

– Commission them to begin work in supporting Welsh Government to develop a new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

– Ensure alignment with the proposed Interim Youth Work Board, both in its 

development and when operational. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 2: 

Other than a brief appearance by the former Minister, the YWRG has not had ‘urgent 

discussions’ at that level. As members of the YWRG, CWVYS would welcome the 

opportunity to take part in dialogue with the Minister within that forum and as part 

of the agenda that she set at the 2018 National Youth Work Conference. 

We would ask for clarity as to whether the Minister’s vision includes a role for the 

YWRG beyond the date of the establishment of the Interim Youth Work Board.  

Should those plans include the work of the YWRG being absorbed by the Interim 

Youth Work Board (as a sub-group with a specific remit perhaps?), it would be 

helpful to be made aware of any relevant, proposed timescales. 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Committee Recommendation 3:  

There should be a clear and meaningful route for young people to be equal partners in 

developing youth services in Wales. This should be developed by the Minister, 

stakeholders and young people. 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Ensured young people were engaged with and consulted as part of the ‘Review of 

the Impact of the Youth Work Strategy’. 

– Ensured young people were engaged with and consulted as part of Margaret Jervis’ 

review of Extending Entitlement. 

– Commissioned Children in Wales to undertake a focused piece of work with young 

people to inform Margaret’s work. 

– Undertaken discussions with the Youth Work Reference Group to explore how young 

people can inform the development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy for 

Wales. 

We will:  

Tudalen y pecyn 31



 

 

– Involve young people in the co-construction of the new Youth Work Strategy for 

Wales. 

– Consider and articulate the role they will play in the design, delivery and monitoring 

of youth services within the new Strategy. 

– Develop an engagement plan, in partnership with young people and stakeholders, 

to ensure this recommendation continues to be fully met going forward. 

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 3: 

In order for ‘clear and meaningful’ routes to be established for young people as 

equal partners in the development of youth services, we would suggest that a better 

response might be one of co-ownership as well as co-construction. A commitment to 

a rights-based approach for young people and engagement based on a clear set of 

entitlements is crucial to the success of a genuinely participative model of working.   

Attempts at engaging young people via the Youth Work Reference Group in previous 

years were not successful. However, we sense that officials are willing to consider 

how best to implement improved ways of working; the sector is well-placed to offer 

suggestions and solutions.   

Such a commitment should be aligned to the UNCRC in relation to the Rights of 

Children and Young Persons (Wales) Measure 2011.   

We would also make a plea to recognise the needs of 18-25 year olds in the agreed 

participative approach; an age group that can sometimes be under-represented in 

terms of invitations to engage. 

As highlighted in our reply to recommendation no.1, once agreed, we see great 

value in the Minister taking an opportunity (or opportunities) to present the ‘Youth 

Work Offer’ jointly with, and directly to, young people whilst also announcing how 

and when the youth work sector will play its part in supporting and delivering the 

‘Offer’.        

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

As we are seeing with the development of the Welsh Youth Parliament and other 

long-established youth work-based models of participation, there is significant 

interest being shown by young people in democratic engagement projects. It would 

be another positive step, therefore, to complement the general tone of participation 

by ensuring a genuine, ‘meaningful’ approach to the development of youth services.    

Committee Recommendation 4:  

The Minister should introduce a national model for Youth Work, encompassing statutory 

and voluntary provision. The Minister should report to this Committee on progress within 

6 months of the publication of this report. 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

Tudalen y pecyn 32



 

 

We have:  

– Commissioned Margaret Jervis to undertake a review of Extending Entitlement, 

which included giving consideration to a ‘national model’ encompassing statutory 

and voluntary provision. 

– Commissioned a Review of the Impact of the National Youth Work Strategy which 

makes recommendations on a way forward. 

– Reflected on these findings, which propose potential ‘models’ for delivery in the 

future. 

We will:  

– Immediately begin development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy, 

including consideration of an appropriate delivery model. 

– Appoint an Interim Youth Work Board, whose remit will include supporting the 

development and implementation of a new strategy, and providing advice on 

appropriate delivery mechanisms. 

– Expand the remit and membership of the Youth Work Reference Group, extending 

an invitation to strategic, local authority representatives, ensuring the new strategy 

balances aspirations and ability to deliver in the current context. 

– Ensure the views of both statutory and voluntary provision are heard as part of its 

development. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 4: 

The WG response is more focused on the Interim Youth Work Board rather than the 

recommendation itself, which proposes a national model for youth work. This is 

disappointing, as the need for a national approach to the delivery of youth services 

is as relevant, if not more so, than when the Inquiry first considered the merits of 

such an approach. There has not been a great deal of discussion around this issue. 

For those reasons, CWVYS makes no apology for re-iterating its commitment to and 

belief in the opportunity to create a National Youth Service which provides for a 

more efficient and cost-effective range of modern services  - developed for and with 

young people. Such a National model could ‘commission nationally, manage 

regionally and deliver locally’, overseen by a National Youth Service Council for 

Wales. 

This has been our consistent view since the publication of the CWVYS paper ‘The 

Future of Youth Services in Wales’ in 2012 and the subsequent joint position paper 

authored by CWVYS and the Wales Principal Youth Officers’ Group, as presented to 

the Youth Work Reference Group in December 2014. These papers resulted in the 

WG-commissioned ‘Feasibility Study’ on a national model by RezolvPS Ltd, most 

recently considered by the Youth Work Reference Group in September 2015. 

We would suggest that the new Interim Youth Work Board consider the model 

adopted in Scotland, where both the voluntary and maintained sectors are 

represented by YouthLink Scotland. A similar model for Wales is achievable and can 

be made ‘Wales-distinct’ by reflecting the needs of young people and the overall 

sector e.g. parity whilst providing as single point of communication for officials and 

partners in other sectors and being accountable for the delivery of youth work in 

Tudalen y pecyn 33



 

 

Wales. 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Committee Recommendation 5:  

The Minister should report back to the Committee within 6 months of the publication of 

this report on how he intends to assess the extent to which his commitment to universal, 

open access provision, in English and Welsh, is being delivered. 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Reported back to the Committee and acknowledged that the youth work landscape 

is changing in the context of a challenging financial climate. 

– Accepted the role that ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ could play in assessing the extent 

to which universal, open access provision, in English and Welsh, is being delivered. 

– Begun exploring the role that ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ will play going forward. 

We will:  

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into the new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

– Restate our commitment to the role youth work can play in supporting young 

people to use and develop their Welsh language skills. 

– Engage with young people in the development of the new strategy to develop a 

current understanding of their needs in relation to the type of youth services they 

wish to access, in the language of their choice. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 5: 

The bedrock of youth work in Wales is its ability to provide a universal, open access 

offer for all young people: a voluntary relationship that provides the foundation for 

the delivery of targeted services, information and support.  

Of course, it is recognised that youth work and its ability to deliver according to the 

needs of young people are ever-evolving but was ever thus; it is not fair to use a 

difficult ‘financial climate’ to justify the moves that have been made to push youth 

work provision into more targeted areas, thereby creating an imbalance in (not) 

meeting the needs of all young people, confusion amongst youth workers and a 

weakening of the position and sheer importance of open access provision.  

Balance of provision is key. CWVYS represents many organisations which deliver 

both open access and targeted provision under one roof. We have alluded to this in 

previous consultations but those youth work providers do not have ‘separate doors’ 

for ‘different types of young people’ but rather work in environments which allow 

them to be nimble, adaptable and resourceful when working with young people: 

whether that be on specific activities relating to health-related issues, for example; 

or on supporting young people with access to learning or employment 

Tudalen y pecyn 34



 

 

opportunities.      

However, without the initial ’open door’ policy and the essential requirement to 

provide services on a voluntary engagement principle, then youth work becomes 

something else  - something that is not youth work. And if the basis of the proposed 

new National Strategy and the Interim Board is ‘Youth Work’ then the balance clearly 

has to be addressed and the sector has to be fully resourced and equipped to 

deliver accordingly.   

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Committee Recommendation 6:  

Within 6 months of the publication of this report, the Minister should commission an 

exercise to map voluntary Youth Work provision across Wales. The exercise should be 

refreshed periodically. 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Reflected on the mapping of voluntary youth work provision undertaken by CWVYS 

(2015) in relation to the Youth Engagement and Progression Framework, and Cordis 

Bright (2016). 

– Reported back to Committee that a national mapping exercise may not be 

appropriate given the rapidly changing context on the ground as services change 

and adapt. 

– Stated our commitment to the concept of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its 

assessment, in planning, delivering, and monitoring youth services. 

We will:  

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into the new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales. To ensure agility in an evolving landscape, any 

assessment should give consideration to both statutory and voluntary provision at a 

local, rather than national level. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 6: 

We would welcome the opportunity to collaborate on work which mapped the 

voluntary youth work sector. The reports highlighted in the WG response refer to 

exercises based on the needs of the Youth Engagement and Progression Framework; 

this not being a mapping of youth work, but rather a specific programme of 

targeted intervention, means that the sector has yet to provide a true reflection of 

all youth services being delivered within the voluntary sector. This is much-needed 

and would enhanced collaboration between not just voluntary and maintained youth 

work sectors but with other sectors and public bodies. 

There is a concern that there is too much of an emphasis on ‘sufficiency’ here: 

unless and until the map of delivery is established, how might the notion of 

Tudalen y pecyn 35



 

 

‘sufficiency’ be adequately addressed?   

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Committee Recommendation 7:  

The Minister should ensure that Youth Work Sufficiency Assessments are undertaken by 

local authorities as part of their population needs assessments and report back to the 

Committee on progress within 6 months of the publication of this report. 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Accepted the potential role of ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ in the planning, delivery 

and monitoring of youth service provision. 

– Set up a working group in November 2017 to ascertain how these might work in 

Wales, learning from approaches taken forward in the Play sector. 

– Determined that there is a requirement for an assessment to ensure services being 

provided within a local authority area are needed, of the required quality, and 

delivered by the most relevant organisation. 

– Explored what an assessment might look like and concluded that, in the absence of 

a new, long term Youth Work Strategy and vision, that takes us beyond 2018, it is 

not possible to finalise an approach for immediate implementation. 

We will:  

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into the new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

– Co-construct its design in partnership with young people and stakeholders. 

– Secure agreement across the sector to the use of Sufficiency Assessments in the 

planning, delivery, and monitoring of youth service provision as part of the new 

strategy. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 7: 

We would agree that there is a need for a new National Youth Work Strategy to be in 

place before any potential implementation of ‘sufficient’ provision and also that 

more needs to be done in relation to what constitutes ‘sufficiency’, how it might be 

assessed and ‘co-constructed’ (and beyond that, how it is ‘co-managed, co-delivered 

and co-evaluated).       

The YWRG has started to consider’ sufficiency’ post-publication of a report by an 

external consultant. We understand that the deployment of resources is an 

important consideration during a period when services for young people are 

changing but also when youth work can play to its considerable strengths. We hope 

that the new Interim Youth Work Board will consider the ramifications of what is 

‘sufficient’ but also how  accountable (and to whom) any proposed ‘framework’ 

might be or look like, within a business-case approach.    

Are there lessons to be learned from the implementation of ‘sufficiency’ in the play 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



 

 

work sector?   

In addition, is there an argument that raises the possibility of looking at the 

interface between play work and youth work and an alignment of what ‘sufficiency’ 

means across both sectors?  

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Committee Recommendation 8:  

The Minister should develop an accountability framework for local authorities’ use of 

funds for Youth Work via the revenue support grant. The framework should include 

sanctions if outcomes are not delivered. 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Confirmed that the Revenue Support Grant is an un-hypothecated funding stream 

and can be spent at local authorities’ discretion according to their locally identified 

needs and priorities. 

– Confirmed that it is not currently possible to identify how much is spent on youth 

work, due to the pooling of budgets across services at a local level, nor to prescribe 

an amount. 

– Reviewed our existing grant funding streams to consider how they might better 

support the desired outcomes of youth work and youth support services. 

– Begun implementing changes to grant funding mechanisms, ensuring a greater 

focus on impact, rather than output. 

– Explored an outcomes framework for youth work in the context of the current 

strategy. 

We will:  

– Publish the reviews of the Youth Work Grants. 

– Continue to learn from them by keeping them under regular review. 

– Establish an Interim Youth Work Board to support the development of a new Youth 

Work Strategy, and advise on approaches for deploying resources appropriately, 

including any unintended consequences. 

– Secure agreement across the sector to the use of ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ in the 

planning, delivery, and monitoring of youth service provision as part of a new 

strategy. This will include consideration of their role in a new accountability 

framework for youth services across local authority and voluntary provision. 

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 8: 

Why is it not possible to ‘identify how much is spent on youth work, due to the 

pooling of budgets across services at a local level’? We might seek to ask questions 

here about accountability and the auditing of such resources.  

Tudalen y pecyn 37



 

 

In addition, if there is no clarity on the ‘starting position’ i.e. just how much 

resource is being made available and how much is being spent on youth services, 

then how can a position be taken as to what constitutes a ‘sufficient’ response to 

that situation? 

The non-hypothecation of allocated funding under the Revenue Support Grant 

continues to only support variations in spend across local authority areas. Again, we 

would ask, as we did during the Inquiry: how feasible is an equitable ‘Youth Work 

Offer’ for young people living in all areas of Wales if and when available resource is 

utilised in such a non-uniform manner.  

The YWRG has started to consider’ sufficiency’ post-publication of a report by an 

external consultant. We understand that the deployment of resources is an 

important consideration during a period when services for young people are 

changing but also when youth work can play to its considerable strengths. We hope 

that the new Interim Youth Work Board will consider the ramifications of what is 

‘sufficient’ but also how  accountable (and to whom) any proposed ‘framework’ 

might be or look like, within a business-case approach.    

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Committee Recommendation 9:  

The Minister should explore the potential continuation of Erasmus+ funding, should the 

UK Government decide not to do so. 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Confirmed our commitment towards a credible, evidenced based approach towards 

withdrawal from the EU. 

We will:  

– Continue to advocate for an approach that places Wales’ priorities centre stage, 

while responding to the UK’s priorities as a whole. 

– Continue dialogue with UK Government counterparts, addressing the role of 

Erasmus+ funding in the UK context. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 9: 

European funding and access to European programmes for training and co-

operation has enhanced Wales’ reputation as an outward-looking welcoming and 

positive nation, with young people very much at the heart of that approach. Those 

programmes assist in the delivery of hugely significant youth work projects, 

international volunteering exchanges and learning opportunities for young people 

and youth workers from within Wales and across other European nations.    

Until 2020, the Erasmus+ budget of 14.7 billion Euro will be utilised for the 

development of knowledge and skills. Two-thirds of that amount is to be used to 

Tudalen y pecyn 38



 

 

provide support for more than 4 million people to study, train, gain work experience 

or volunteer. 1 billion Euro has been allocated to the UK between 2014-2020. Wales-

based projects are expected to be in receipt of 6-7 million Euro during that time.  

The limited response from the WG is indicative of an approach that has not 

maximised the opportunities afforded by Erasmus+ and other European 

opportunities. CWVYS has established very good links with the National (UK) 

Agencies – British Council and Ecorys UK – on behalf of the voluntary youth work 

sector and we are still the sole partner in Wales of Eurodesk UK – an important 

resource-and-information-rich source for the development of Europe-wide support, 

funding, engagement and learning opportunities. A number of our member 

organisations and young people (and CWVYS) have benefited directly and indirectly 

from that introduction to European programmes via CWVYS.  An example here 

would be the European Voluntary Service (EVS) model and its soon-to-come 

successor scheme the European Solidarity Corps.  

CWVYS (and before us, ProMo Cymru) held the Wales membership for the European 

Youth Information and Counselling Agency (ERYICA), which has now reverted back 

to the WG. It was a very positive step by officials to invite ERYICA to deliver a 

workshop session at the recent National Youth Work Conference and to also discuss 

future links as a result of that appearance. We sincerely hope that this membership 

link can be exploited to its fullest potential on behalf of and with the youth work 

sector in Wales. 

It was also good to see that Ecorys UK were invited to, and did, deliver a workshop 

session on Erasmus+ funding opportunities at the National Conference. Such links 

are vitally important if Wales is to obtain its share of resource in, and enjoy positive 

participation of, Erasmus+. 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

CWVYS has been active in supporting work on Brexit and the impact on young 

people in Wales and the UK: this has manifested itself in work completed via Demos, 

MyLifeMySay , the #KeepErasmusPlus campaign and the All-Party Parliamentary 

Group on Brexit, amongst several other forums. 

Committee Recommendation 10:  

The Minister should ensure that the statutory and voluntary Youth Work sector play a 

central role in the process of curriculum reform. 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Confirmed statutory and voluntary representation on the Education Reform Strategic 

Stakeholder Group. 

– Engaged the Youth Work Reference Group (with representatives from both statutory 

and voluntary sectors) with the process of Curriculum Reform. 

Tudalen y pecyn 39



 

 

We will:  

– Continue to ensure appropriate mechanisms for ensuring the statutory and 

voluntary youth work sector play a central role in the process of curriculum reform. 

– Consider and articulate the links and alignment between formal education and 

youth work in the new Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 10: 

CWVYS is a member of the Strategic Stakeholder Group.  Whilst this provides an 

opportunity to highlight the benefits of informal and non-formal education within 

curriculum reform developments, the main focus remains the development of the 

formal education sector’s approach and responses to the curriculum within schools.  

The challenge, therefore, continues to be that of supporting a co-ordinated, 

consistent and collaborative effort  to ensure that youth work is represented at that 

strategic level.  

It is to be hoped that there will be opportunities to strengthen the case for youth 

work and its benefits within the new curriculum as a result of the forming of the 

Interim Youth Work Board and also the presumed, outward-facing consultation 

exercises ahead of the development of the new National Youth Work Strategy. The 

opportunity to invite formal educators to those discussions needs to be seized upon 

in order to again ‘present the case’ for youth work in both strategic and operational 

fora.   

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

In its capacity as a member of the Third Sector Partnership Council (chaired by the 

Cabinet Secretary for Local Government and Public Bodies) and the Third 

Sector/Education Group (chaired by the Cabinet Secretary for Education and 

attended by the Minister for the Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning), CWVYS also 

has the opportunity to highlight the benefits of, and alignments with, youth work 

and formal education.  

A sub-group of the Third Sector/Education Group carries out liaison work between 

the Education Workforce Council and the wider third sector; CWVYS attends the sub-

group for the voluntary youth work sector.   

 

 

 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 40



CYPE(5)-14-18 – Papur 3 

 

 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales 

Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg | Children, Young People and Education Committee 

Gwaith Ieuenctid – gwaith dilynol | Youth Work - Follow up 

YW(2) 04 

Ymateb gan: Grwp Prif Swyddogion Ieuenctid (Cymru) 

Response from: Principal Youth Officers’ Group (Wales) 

 
Committee Recommendation 1:  

The Minister should review the National Strategy and refresh the statutory guidance in 

consultation with stakeholders and young people. A detailed action plan for 

implementation, including timescales, must be developed alongside a new strategy. 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Commissioned Wrexham Glyndwr University, Cardiff Metropolitan University, and 

Susanne Rauprich OBE, to review the impact of the National Youth Work Strategy. A 

final report has been received and is being prepared for publication. This work was 

informed by stakeholders and young people.  

– Commissioned Margaret Jervis, MBE DL, to review Extending Entitlement. A final 

report has been submitted and is being prepared for publication. This work was 

informed by stakeholders and young people.  

– Commissioned the Youth Work Reference Group (YWRG), who represent the youth 

work sector, providing advice to Welsh Government, to review Margaret’s 

recommendations and propose a way forward.  

We will:  

– Immediately begin development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy.  

– Ensure a long term vision is built into the strategy, with detailed annual planning, 

self-evaluation, and review.  

– Co-construct the strategy with young people and stakeholders at all levels in the 

system.  

– Publish Margaret’s Review, the ‘Review of the Impact of the Youth Work Strategy’, 

and associated reviews of grant funding Embed lessons learned, including from the 

Committee’s Inquiry, alongside wider evidence in Wales, the UK and beyond.  

– Firmly ground our approaches in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the 

Child and the Wellbeing for Future Generations Act.  

– Re-establish a Youth Work Offer/Charter at the centre of the new strategy.  

– Include consideration of ‘sufficiency of provision’, and the role of other bodies such 

as service providers, regulators, local authorities, and Welsh Government in 

ensuring rigorous accountability.  

– Develop our approaches in the context and ethos of Extending Entitlement, with a 

view toward considering the status of existing statutory guidance, once the 

strategic approach for securing youth work has been developed in partnership with 

stakeholders. 

Tudalen y pecyn 41

Eitem 3



 

 

– Establish an Interim Youth Work Board to support the development of the strategy, 

evaluate approaches for deploying resources, represent the voice of the sector, and 

provide advice to Welsh Government.  

– Publish a timeline setting out how/when this will be delivered.  

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 1: 

The review of the National Strategy was published at the annual WG Youth Work 

Conference on 21
st

 March, so the PYOG has not yet had chance to fully digest or 

discuss this but it appears to be quite thorough in its process and content and 

direct in its findings, insomuch as it has presented an honest summary.  

The current strategy was launched at a conference in 2014 in North Wales – there 

was little involvement of the sector in its development, delegates attending the 

conference were not provided with sight of it beforehand (a web-link was presented 

briefly as part of the Ministerial address), nor hard copies during, yet work-shops 

were held during the day to discuss its merits (or otherwise). Unfortunately, this set 

a tone which reflected the strategy itself (to quote the evaluation report, it was “not 

as forward thinking as it could have been”). Whilst having a welcome focus on open 

access Youth Work (as well as targeted provision), the strategy also lacked any 

discernible targets and accountability – whereas the previous (and first National 

Strategy for Wales) included actions and clear lines of accountability for each part of 

the sector. 

The announcement of a review of Extending Entitlement during the Youth Work 

Inquiry was quite a surprise to the sector – whilst Youth Work is a crucial 

component of the Youth Support Services offer and was in scope for the Inquiry, 

Extending Entitlement is the Directions and Guidance for Youth Support Services (a 

much wider ‘offer’ for young people delivered by a much broader range of 

contributing organisations reflecting requirements in the Learning & Skills Act, 

2000). The recently published work by Margaret Jervis, rather than reviewing Youth 

Support Services, has presented a much clearer focus on Youth Work, which is more 

in line with the scope of the Inquiry and is acting as a useful platform for taking the 

Youth Service (the framework by which Youth Work is delivered) forward. 

It is important to also note at this point that, whilst welcoming of the Committee’s 

inquiry, the sector has been somewhat disappointed in regard to its scope. As the 

inquiry has developed, it has focussed in on some types of Youth Work provision 

(particularly community based, open-access provision) at the expense of Youth Work 

in other settings e.g. school-based. Youth Work is very much a blended offer of 

targeted and open access provision. 

Whilst at the embryonic stages of developing a new National Youth Work Strategy, 

by utilising the findings of the evaluation of the current strategy, the PYOG very 

much welcomes a more long-term approach to a new strategy. This will provide the 

sector with a long-term vision with (as has been suggested) annual or bi-annual 

action plans, so that progress can be monitored and changes made as necessary 

along this journey. In order to do so, the sector somehow needs to take stock of its 

current capacity – given the impact of austerity on the sector, it is quite a different 

environment than that of four or five years ago with the level of provision having 

Tudalen y pecyn 42



 

 

decreased, as well as taken a different shape.  

In order to make a new strategy as relevant as possible, another crucial element is 

involving young people in its development – from the start! Whilst consultation is 

carried out on an ongoing basis at local level, we need to consider what young 

people are telling us about what they want from Youth Work and the Youth Service 

e.g. are they still requiring Youth Clubs and, if yes, what do they expect them to look 

like? Also, the role of communities in funding/providing for young people as 

community constituents. Another important consideration is the quality and 

quantity of professionally qualified Youth Workers entering the field and their 

ability to enjoy career progression on a par with others e.g. teachers and Social 

Workers. Whilst challenging, a new Strategy needs be deliverable and, in order for 

this to happen, needs to be realistic as to what the sector can deliver on. 

Whilst the main strategic platform for the sector, it has been felt for some time that 

the Youth Work Reference Group has not always been used in this way (i.e. as a 

point of reference), rather it has been somewhat confused by a plethora of work-

streams which were not instigated by its membership, rather being ‘presented’ at 

late notice and with little/no consultation. As a result, the group had become (at 

worst) dysfunctional and (at best) had lost its sense of direction.  

Recent meetings have seen a refreshing change in approach, with a more open, 

inclusive and consultative dialogue which is showing promising signs of developing 

an environment where co-construction can take place. The group’s knowledge and 

expertise is being recognised and, whilst members have yet to meet with the ‘new’ 

Minister, WG officials are taking advice forward and feeding back to the group. Also, 

whilst a not insubstantial task, progress is being made around rationalising the 

numerous pieces of work which had been generated previously. 

The recent national Youth Work Conference marked a first attempt to engage with 

the sector on what a new strategy could and should look like but a comprehensive 

engagement plan now needs to be developed so that the new strategy takes shape 

based on meaningful engagement with all stakeholders. The interim Youth Work 

Board has yet to take shape and it is not yet known what status/teeth this will have, 

what its membership will look like and indeed what its relationship with the YWRG 

will be as/when in position. However, the sector does have a timeline in relation to 

this and other important pieces of work. 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

The status and profile of Youth Work has suffered over the last 10 years or so. 

Following the closure of the Wales Youth Agency whereby the staff (circa 12) were 

taken into Welsh Government and operated strategically as a Branch, over time this 

has reduced to a team of four with a continued reduction in profile, to a team within 

a Branch, so there is some work to be done here. However, as of April this year, 

Youth Workers are required to register with the Education Workforce Council (EWC) 

and, as such, have parity alongside other education professionals (teachers, FE staff 

and Work Based Learning). Whilst there is still a long way to go in relation to the 

understanding of Youth Work and its contribution via an educative approach (e.g. 

although Youth Clubs, table tennis and pool have their place, the ‘offer’ is much 

Tudalen y pecyn 43



 

 

more comprehensive than this and is an environment where young people can be 

nurtured and progress through learning in non-formal and informal learning 

environments), this is seen as a positive move. The sector continues to struggle to 

be fully understood in relation to its contribution to education in Wales and, in 

particular to the development of the new curriculum. Although many principles of 

Youth Work are prominent throughout Successful Futures, opportunities to help 

shape a new curriculum for Wales are few and far between. The PYOG would 

welcome tangible opportunities to do so.  

In relation to an improving profile for the Youth Work, the sector is also currently 

responding to a WG consultation to include Youth Work representation on the EWC 

Council.   

Committee Recommendation 2:  

The Minister should hold urgent discussions with the Ministerial Youth Work Reference 

Group to address the concerns from within the sector about a lack of engagement from 

Welsh Government. 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Held urgent discussions at Ministerial level with the Youth Work Reference Group. 

– Refreshed the remit of the group and begun extending their membership. 

– Recognised the key role they play in supporting both the sector and Welsh 

Government in delivering and implementing policy. 

– Tasked them with considering the draft report produced by Margaret Jervis, MBE DL. 

– Drawn on their expertise and knowledge to inform the development of the new 

curriculum for Wales. 

– Received positive feedback from the Youth Work Reference Group on this new 

approach. 

We will:  

– Continue to use the Youth Work Reference Group strategically, with regular 

engagement from Welsh Government to inform developing approaches. 

– Commission them to begin work in supporting Welsh Government to develop a new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

– Ensure alignment with the proposed Interim Youth Work Board, both in its 

development and when operational. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 2: 

Some of the response to this Recommendation is also covered in Recommendation 

1. However, to reflect on this, although against a wider backdrop of a reducing 

sector, there are positive signs in relation to strategic developments (as reflected in 

the WG response above). 

The review by Margaret Jervis, although welcome, also provided additional 

confusion due to the original scope of the report not being clearly defined. The 

Tudalen y pecyn 44



 

 

expectation was that the report would comment on Extending Entitlement, whereas 

the reality was that it was a commentary on the status of Youth Work in Wales. This 

confusion though stimulated debate within the Reference Group about its future 

role and has contributed to the group beginning to refine its purpose and a refocus 

on Youth Work. The WG has the full support of the PYOG, which continues to work 

closely with the Youth Work Strategy Branch, as well as providing representation on 

the YWRG. 

One area which has not seen a great improvement however is that of curriculum 

reform. Whilst Youth Work has a great deal to offer the new approach which 

Successful Futures recommends, the Youth Work sector remains largely 

conspicuous by its absence in shaping this.  

Although the Youth Work Reference Group has received a presentation from the WG 

Curriculum Development Team on the Health & Wellbeing Area of Learning and 

Experience (AoLE) and there are a few representatives from the sector on the 

Education Stakeholder Group, there is no meaningful dialogue or platforms for 

influencing developments – it is uncertain as to the sense of direction and level of 

influence which the Stakeholder Group is having and Youth Work is one voice 

amongst many on this group. The sector continues to seek opportunities to engage 

at both national level e.g. the PYOG ran a seminar (attended by the WG Director of 

Education) in September 2017 and local level e.g. via the pioneer schools work but 

this continues to prove a challenge. Also, the Engaging Children & Young People 

sub-group has not met for well over a year. 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Apart from the YWRG meetings, the sector has for some time seen only sporadic 

formal engagement from the Youth Work Team (before it the Youth Work Branch) 

and would welcome more opportunities to discuss mutual opportunities and 

challenges, which could also include a less formal dialogue, which can contribute to 

better shared understanding of priorities and drivers.  

The PYOG and CWVYS have on a number of occasions in recent times offered the 

field’s support for central government’s efforts to promote and develop Youth Work 

in Wales by engaging with the Team. Whilst recognising that this is a two-way 

process and that different parts of the sector will discuss matters on which there 

will not always be consensus (the foundation of a strong democratic process), a 

more frequent and open dialogue can only promote better relationships and 

therefore a stronger voice for the sector. 

This also involves engaging with all parts of Wales – recent developments and 

events have seen a particular focus on Cardiff, which is not always an easy option 

for colleagues from other parts of Wales as it can require a considerable 

commitment of time and resource, particularly if involving young people. Whilst 

recognising that Cardiff is the capital city and that some occasions might demand 

greater impact by being held there, PYOG members from across Wales are keen to 

develop closer working relationships with members of the WG’s Youth Work Team.  

Committee Recommendation 3:  

Tudalen y pecyn 45



 

 

There should be a clear and meaningful route for young people to be equal partners in 

developing youth services in Wales. This should be developed by the Minister, 

stakeholders and young people. 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Ensured young people were engaged with and consulted as part of the ‘Review of 

the Impact of the Youth Work Strategy’. 

– Ensured young people were engaged with and consulted as part of Margaret Jervis’ 

review of Extending Entitlement. 

– Commissioned Children in Wales to undertake a focused piece of work with young 

people to inform Margaret’s work. 

– Undertaken discussions with the Youth Work Reference Group to explore how young 

people can inform the development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy for 

Wales. 

We will:  

– Involve young people in the co-construction of the new Youth Work Strategy for 

Wales. 

– Consider and articulate the role they will play in the design, delivery and monitoring 

of youth services within the new Strategy. 

– Develop an engagement plan, in partnership with young people and stakeholders, 

to ensure this recommendation continues to be fully met going forward. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 3: 

The Youth Service has a long tradition of positive engagement with young people in 

a relationship which is quite unique, insomuch as the young person does so 

voluntarily and the power in that relationship lies with the young person, therefore 

the young person drives both the quality of provision (s/he can walk away should 

they choose) and shapes it through their participation and influence. There is a 

constant cycle of monitoring and evaluation and feedback. In contrast, when young 

people attend school, they do so knowing that (in the main) they must conform to a 

curriculum (a prescribed course of study) and that opportunities to shape this are 

more limited. Whilst both approaches are important, they are different. 

As such, whilst far from being complacent about its ability to do so, this is a sector 

which requires no encouragement, training or preparation in working alongside 

young people to elicit and articulate their needs, desires and wants. It is a sector 

primed and ready to work with WG and young people in shaping strategies and 

services to ensure they meet their needs. There are many opportunities and 

platforms/fora for doing so. Whilst more formal processes of engagement are often 

useful, the sector (voluntary and statutory Youth Work organisations and young 

people) should be the main vehicle for this process. 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Tudalen y pecyn 46



 

 

Committee Recommendation 4:  

The Minister should introduce a national model for Youth Work, encompassing statutory 

and voluntary provision. The Minister should report to this Committee on progress within 

6 months of the publication of this report. 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Commissioned Margaret Jervis to undertake a review of Extending Entitlement, 

which included giving consideration to a ‘national model’ encompassing statutory 

and voluntary provision. 

– Commissioned a Review of the Impact of the National Youth Work Strategy which 

makes recommendations on a way forward. 

– Reflected on these findings, which propose potential ‘models’ for delivery in the 

future. 

We will:  

– Immediately begin development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy, 

including consideration of an appropriate delivery model. 

– Appoint an Interim Youth Work Board, whose remit will include supporting the 

development and implementation of a new strategy, and providing advice on 

appropriate delivery mechanisms. 

– Expand the remit and membership of the Youth Work Reference Group, extending 

an invitation to strategic, local authority representatives, ensuring the new strategy 

balances aspirations and ability to deliver in the current context. 

– Ensure the views of both statutory and voluntary provision are heard as part of its 

development. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 4: 

Whilst the PYOG is not opposed to a ‘national model’ in principle, it must be borne 

in mind (in line with previous comments) that Youth Work is also based on 

subsidiarity (ownership and decision making by those closest to Youth Work 

delivery in their local area). This is not in contradiction to young people being 

Welsh, European and World citizens but that needs will differ (sometimes quite 

dramatically so) from one area to the next, so therefore provision (to meet these 

needs) e.g. where there is an older demographic, the types of provision and opening 

hours will differ from a younger demand. Also, in order to meet demand an inner 

city provision may need to be different from a rural provision. 

A national ‘vision’ for Youth Work in Wales, with some kind of framework to offer a 

level of consistency of ‘offer’ is important but this needs the necessary level of in-

built flexibility so that the principle of subsidiarity can be maintained.   

As previously mentioned in this response, whilst both the voluntary and statutory 

sectors are committed to working together, it is important that some kind of 

mapping exercise (locally and nationally) is carried out, so that any national 

approach is challenging, yes but also achievable. Equally, a definition of what is 

Tudalen y pecyn 47



 

 

meant by ‘voluntary’ must be clear, especially in light of the confusion that has been 

caused by the EWC developments about who should and should not register across 

sectors.  

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Committee Recommendation 5:  

The Minister should report back to the Committee within 6 months of the publication of 

this report on how he intends to assess the extent to which his commitment to universal, 

open access provision, in English and Welsh, is being delivered. 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Reported back to the Committee and acknowledged that the youth work landscape 

is changing in the context of a challenging financial climate. 

– Accepted the role that ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ could play in assessing the extent 

to which universal, open access provision, in English and Welsh, is being delivered. 

– Begun exploring the role that ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ will play going forward. 

We will:  

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into the new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

– Restate our commitment to the role youth work can play in supporting young 

people to use and develop their Welsh language skills. 

– Engage with young people in the development of the new strategy to develop a 

current understanding of their needs in relation to the type of youth services they 

wish to access, in the language of their choice. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 5: 

Whilst not opposed in principle to the development of some kind of sufficiency 

assessment, it is unclear as to what the ‘driver’ for these might be. The Childcare 

Sufficiency and Play Sufficiency processes and reports are rooted in legislation, so 

there is a statutory requirement on local authorities to produce these. In the 

absence of such a ‘lever’, apart from being in the interest of transparency, it is 

unclear as to what requirements can be placed on Youth Work organisations to 

produce sufficiency reports. 

This aside, the PYOG commits to playing its part in any moves to develop 

sufficiency assessments. What the Childcare and Play Sufficiency Assessments have 

provided in some areas is greater accountability at both local and national levels, 

thereby raising their status.  This might be seen as a positive for Youth Work and by 

carrying out a sufficiency assessment it can provide a platform on which to develop 

and design contemporary youth services provision, although it should not be so 

bureaucratic that it impacts on service delivery.  

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Tudalen y pecyn 48



 

 

Committee Recommendation 6:  

Within 6 months of the publication of this report, the Minister should commission an 

exercise to map voluntary Youth Work provision across Wales. The exercise should be 

refreshed periodically. 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Reflected on the mapping of voluntary youth work provision undertaken by CWVYS 

(2015) in relation to the Youth Engagement and Progression Framework, and Cordis 

Bright (2016). 

– Reported back to Committee that a national mapping exercise may not be 

appropriate given the rapidly changing context on the ground as services change 

and adapt. 

– Stated our commitment to the concept of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its 

assessment, in planning, delivering, and monitoring youth services. 

We will:  

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into the new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales. To ensure agility in an evolving landscape, any 

assessment should give consideration to both statutory and voluntary provision at a 

local, rather than national level. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 6: 

In the evidence session attended by the PYOG and CWVYS during the Inquiry, one of 

the lines of questioning by the Committee was around mapping of provision. 

Although this process goes on at local level, it is perhaps not as consistent or as 

comprehensive as it has been in recent times (e.g. in the times of Children & Young 

Peoples’ Partnerships, when an audit of need and an audit of provision was required 

as part of the Children & Young People’s Plan).  

The PYOG agrees with the assertion that the sector is going through an 

unprecedented period of rapid change and that, as a result, any mapping may 

become redundant the moment it is completed/published. However, as things are 

changing so rapidly, there is currently not an accurate picture across Wales as to the 

level of provision available e.g. the recent WG Youth Work conference saw young 

people calling for services to be available for them “in my square mile”. Whilst this 

may be unrealistic, it is clear that the situation is changing so quickly that, what 

might be in place one week may be at threat or have disappeared the next. Although 

the detail of what might be included in sufficiency assessments has yet to be 

articulated, this may be one way of evidencing levels of provision. In line with 

previous comments, it can be problematic developing a strategy if the knowledge of 

ability to deliver on this is not comprehensive. The annual audit of Local Authority 

Youth Services does provide an overview of what is available to young people 

delivered by the statutory Youth Services. 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



 

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Committee Recommendation 7:  

The Minister should ensure that Youth Work Sufficiency Assessments are undertaken by 

local authorities as part of their population needs assessments and report back to the 

Committee on progress within 6 months of the publication of this report. 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Accepted the potential role of ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ in the planning, delivery 

and monitoring of youth service provision. 

– Set up a working group in November 2017 to ascertain how these might work in 

Wales, learning from approaches taken forward in the Play sector. 

– Determined that there is a requirement for an assessment to ensure services being 

provided within a local authority area are needed, of the required quality, and 

delivered by the most relevant organisation. 

– Explored what an assessment might look like and concluded that, in the absence of 

a new, long term Youth Work Strategy and vision, that takes us beyond 2018, it is 

not possible to finalise an approach for immediate implementation. 

We will:  

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into the new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

– Co-construct its design in partnership with young people and stakeholders. 

– Secure agreement across the sector to the use of Sufficiency Assessments in the 

planning, delivery, and monitoring of youth service provision as part of the new 

strategy. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 7: 

Although the PYOG agrees in principle to the proposal of sufficiency assessments, 

there are a number of questions around the status and requirements, as well as 

content of what these may be. Although some members of the PYOG contributed to 

the discussion in November, 2017, the group would welcome further involvement 

going forward – if local authorities are to be required to write sufficiency 

assessments, it would be prudent to ensure that PYOG members are not only 

familiar with developments but are also contributing to this process. Evidence from 

Play and Childcare Sufficiency Assessments is that they are time consuming; 

therefore, there are resource implications to consider, especially in the development 

of the first tranche of assessments.  Welsh Government provided financial support 

in the development of the initial Play and Childcare Sufficiency Assessments and 

this would be essential for Youth Sufficiency Assessments to ensure that resources 

for delivery are not diverted towards mapping or development of assessments.   

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Committee Recommendation 8:  

Tudalen y pecyn 50



 

 

The Minister should develop an accountability framework for local authorities’ use of 

funds for Youth Work via the revenue support grant. The framework should include 

sanctions if outcomes are not delivered. 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Confirmed that the Revenue Support Grant is an un-hypothecated funding stream 

and can be spent at local authorities’ discretion according to their locally identified 

needs and priorities. 

– Confirmed that it is not currently possible to identify how much is spent on youth 

work, due to the pooling of budgets across services at a local level, nor to prescribe 

an amount. 

– Reviewed our existing grant funding streams to consider how they might better 

support the desired outcomes of youth work and youth support services. 

– Begun implementing changes to grant funding mechanisms, ensuring a greater 

focus on impact, rather than output. 

– Explored an outcomes framework for youth work in the context of the current 

strategy. 

We will:  

– Publish the reviews of the Youth Work Grants. 

– Continue to learn from them by keeping them under regular review. 

– Establish an Interim Youth Work Board to support the development of a new Youth 

Work Strategy, and advise on approaches for deploying resources appropriately, 

including any unintended consequences. 

– Secure agreement across the sector to the use of ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ in the 

planning, delivery, and monitoring of youth service provision as part of a new 

strategy. This will include consideration of their role in a new accountability 

framework for youth services across local authority and voluntary provision. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 8: 

The PYOG welcomes a clearer focus on impact in relation to grant funding and is 

keen to work with WG officials in relation to how this will look in practice. 

As the Minister recognises, Youth Work funding in local authorities is part of the 

RSG and, as such, is spent at local level based on and determined by the needs of 

local populations.  

Without yet being aware of any detail, it is apparent throughout the Welsh 

Government’s responses that sufficiency assessments are seen as an important 

element of future assessment and planning. It is also becoming clearer that a Youth 

Work Board will have some kind of role and influence on WG grant funded work 

across Wales. What is unclear though is what (if any) powers this Board will have in 

relation to this. The funding picture for Youth Work across Wales is a complex one, 

in that a number of grants accessed by Youth Work organisations in Wales are not 

issued by WG and there is little consistency in relation to who is drawing down 

what, from whom and how much. The WG Youth Work audit will provide some 

Tudalen y pecyn 51



 

 

information in this regard but some local authority and voluntary sector (which 

doesn’t currently report on the audit) organisations are funded from sources 

outside of central government (sometimes as joint beneficiaries). 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Local authority Youth Services, as with all other public sector organisations, 

continue to go through a very difficult period of funding readjustments linked to 

austerity. Restructures of services, often resulting in further loss of staff and 

resources, continue to be commonplace. As local authorities continue to respond as 

best they can in the context of reducing funding, it is inevitable that all services 

face very difficult decisions. Regrettably, when this impacts on young people, the 

impact of this may not be seen fully for some time to come. In the face of these 

immense challenges, the sector continues to be durable and innovative and remains 

positive. However, there is always a point of no return and the sector edges closer 

towards this, at a time when young people need the input of Youth Work more than 

ever.  

Committee Recommendation 9:  

The Minister should explore the potential continuation of Erasmus+ funding, should the 

UK Government decide not to do so. 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Confirmed our commitment towards a credible, evidenced based approach towards 

withdrawal from the EU. 

We will:  

– Continue to advocate for an approach that places Wales’ priorities centre stage, 

while responding to the UK’s priorities as a whole. 

– Continue dialogue with UK Government counterparts, addressing the role of 

Erasmus+ funding in the UK context. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 9: 

Wales is currently identified as a priority country for Erasmus+ funding and, whilst 

funding finding its way to Wales is increasing, there is more to be done on 

promoting its benefits to the youth sector. There seems to be a pattern whereby 

organisations who are successful in drawing down Erasmus+ funding do so more 

than once but others have either not considered it or experience barriers to doing 

so and do not follow through. 

However, where it is being accessed, young people and staff gain a huge amount 

from it and the PYOG fully supports the Committee’s recommendation to explore 

the potential for continued Erasmus+ funding. 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Tudalen y pecyn 52



 

 

The WLGA Lifelong Learning Policy Officer (Youth), who acts as a support for the 

PYOG, has recently been invited to attend the Erasmus+ National (UK) Evaluation 

Committee. It is hoped that this will lead to a closer relationship between local 

government and Erasmus+, whereby local authorities can learn more about the 

opportunities presented.  

Committee Recommendation 10:  

The Minister should ensure that the statutory and voluntary Youth Work sector play a 

central role in the process of curriculum reform. 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response 

We have:  

– Confirmed statutory and voluntary representation on the Education Reform Strategic 

Stakeholder Group. 

– Engaged the Youth Work Reference Group (with representatives from both statutory 

and voluntary sectors) with the process of Curriculum Reform. 

We will:  

– Continue to ensure appropriate mechanisms for ensuring the statutory and 

voluntary youth work sector play a central role in the process of curriculum reform. 

– Consider and articulate the links and alignment between formal education and 

youth work in the new Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 10: 

Successful Futures has been warmly welcomed by the Youth Service as a forward-

looking document proposing to implement a new way of educating children and 

young people in schools in Wales so that they are equipped to respond to life in a 

new world and digital age. Through its core is a methodology akin to good Youth 

Work (Health & Wellbeing, Expressive Arts, Experiential Learning, empowering, 

rights driven, learners directly influencing decisions on curriculum and pedagogy 

etc). However, whilst the Youth Service is very keen to work with the formal 

education sector (schools) both on this and considering the role which Youth Work 

can play in the delivery of the curriculum, Youth Work continues to be peripheral to 

discussions. Although the sector has representation on the Stakeholder Group, 

which meets a few times a year, it is not clear as to what level of influence this 

group has. Involvement at local level (Pioneer schools) is very limited and non-

existent in some areas and there are real concerns that the chance for any proper 

involvement and influence is quickly passing.  

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 53



CYPE(5)-14-18 – Papur 4 

 

 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales 

Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg | Children, Young People and Education Committee 

Gwaith Ieuenctid – gwaith dilynol | Youth Work - Follow up 

YW(2) 07 

Ymateb gan: Plant yng Nghymru 

Response from: Children in Wales 

 

 

Children in Wales’s response primarily supports that which has been submitted by 

CWYVS and we therefore credit CWYVS by colouring the areas in their response 

which we agree with in blue and by adding any additional comments from Children 

in Wales in black. 

 

Committee Recommendation 1:  

The Minister should review the National Strategy and refresh the statutory guidance in 

consultation with stakeholders and young people. A detailed action plan for 

implementation, including timescales, must be developed alongside a new strategy.  

Accepted by Welsh Government  

Welsh Government Response  

We have:  

– Commissioned Wrexham Glyndwr University, Cardiff Metropolitan University, and 

Susanne Rauprich OBE, to review the impact of the National Youth Work Strategy. A final 

report has been received and is being prepared for publication. This work was informed 

by stakeholders and young people.  

– Commissioned Margaret Jervis, MBE DL, to review Extending Entitlement. A final report 

has been submitted and is being prepared for publication. This work was informed by 

stakeholders and young people.  

– Commissioned the Youth Work Reference Group (YWRG), who represent the youth work 

sector, providing advice to Welsh Government, to review Margaret’s recommendations 

and propose a way forward.  

 

We will:  

– Immediately begin development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy.  

– Ensure a long term vision is built into the strategy, with detailed annual planning, self-

evaluation, and review.  

– Co-construct the strategy with young people and stakeholders at all levels in the 

system.  

– Publish Margaret’s Review, the ‘Review of the Impact of the Youth Work Strategy’, and 

associated reviews of grant funding Embed lessons learned, including from the 

Committee’s Inquiry, alongside wider evidence in Wales, the UK and beyond.  

– Firmly ground our approaches in the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the 

Child and the Wellbeing for Future Generations Act. – Re-establish a Youth Work 

Offer/Charter at the centre of the new strategy.  

– Include consideration of ‘sufficiency of provision’, and the role of other bodies such as 

service providers, regulators, local authorities, and Welsh Government in ensuring 

rigorous accountability.  

– Develop our approaches in the context and ethos of Extending Entitlement, with a view 

toward considering the status of existing statutory guidance, once the strategic 

approach for securing youth work has been developed in partnership with stakeholders.  

Tudalen y pecyn 54

Eitem 4



 

 

– Establish an Interim Youth Work Board to support the development of the strategy, 

evaluate approaches for deploying resources, represent the voice of the sector, and 

provide advice to Welsh Government.  

– Publish a timeline setting out how/when this will be delivered.  

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 1: 

  

We note that the WG officials have set out a fairly detailed work plan, which includes 

timescales, towards the development of a new National Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

We welcome that attempt at clarifying the steps which need to be taken as well as the 

inclusion of the youth work sector in those developments and delivery points.  

 

The review of the National Strategy was well-received and its acknowledgement of the 

roles played by the voluntary youth work sector is welcomed.  

We would take issue with the notion of a Strategy being ‘aspirational’ and might argue 

that previous versions of policy and strategic documents have too frequently fallen 

victim to such language and subsequent activity. If a new Strategy is to achieve better 

outcomes for young people and support of those who seek to provide those better 

outcomes, then it needs to be meaningful, based upon implementation and therefore 

accountable.  

 

Discussions at the Youth Work Reference Group (which is co-Chaired by Keith Towler 

(Chair of CWVYS) and also attended by Paul Glaze) have resulted in a view that a 10-year 

Strategy is not only a positive ambition but a necessity if it is to meet the needs of 

young people and the sector. We should like this 10-year term to be clarified as the 

‘long-term vision’.  

 

We strongly believe that any ‘Youth Work Charter’ written into the new Strategy should 

not merely be an assumption of the ‘Wales Charter for Youth Work’: a document that is 

now out of date but one which was also never presented to young people as an ‘offer’. 

We would suggest that the Minister might like to present an opportunity for young 

people to directly help shape a ‘Charter’.  

 

The WG says it will ‘include consideration of ‘sufficiency of provision’…’ but omits the 

voluntary youth work sector from the list of ‘other bodies’. CWVYS requests that this 

omission be rectified as a matter of course.  The importance of ensuring the 

sustainability of the independent youth sector is critical particularly as it supports many 

children and young people who are disadvantaged or marginalised.   

 

We also welcome Margaret Jervis’s review of ‘Extending Entitlement’ and support its 

findings and recommendations. This review reflects the principles of the UNCRC upon 

which we believe all policies affecting children and young people should be based and 

are in line with the ‘Children and Familes (Wales) Measure 2011’ 

 

CWVYS supports the forming of an Interim Youth Work Board and recognises that the 

impending appointment of a Chair and its members will be of critical importance in 

support of the development of a new Strategy but also in support of youth work more 

generally.  

Tudalen y pecyn 55



 

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report:  

 

Quality Mark for Youth Work in Wales  

- Has been re-commissioned by the Welsh Government for 2018/19 via Atkins 

Associates.  

 

- Given that undertaking the QM is not a compulsory activity and that other QMs with 

wider reach and more widely known beyond Wales i.e. Investors in People; PQASSO are 

available, some CWVYS member organisations have questioned the need to spend 

another significant sum on the delivery of the QM.  

 

Some Children in Wales member organisations may have a wide range of activities and 

not exclusively youth work. For this reason we would prefer that any quality mark avoids 

duplication as this is a wasteful resource. Third Sector organisations are encouraged to 

use PQASSO 

 

Youth Information services  

- The Youth Work Reference Group has recently discussed youth information services 

within the context of a future National Youth Work Strategy. This is a positive move and 

serves to show just how critically important that information services for young people 

are in the development of the Strategy but also how integral they are to the delivery of 

good, positive youth work and to the engagement of young people.  

 

Children in Wales’ Young Wales programme engages across Wales with young people 

through Youth Forums and other organisations as a conduit for information sharing. It 

would be important to take a holistic and young person centred approach.  

 

Workforce Development  

- It is acknowledged that this topic covers a wide area but there is little being discussed 

about the need to invest in an appropriate, timely and future-proofed workforce 

development plan for the youth work sector. Without that investment, planning and 

long-term support on behalf of the workforce (paid and unpaid), any future Strategy will 

not achieve its ambitions.  

 

- An example from Scotland: The Scottish Government entrusts YouthLink Scotland 

(representative body for both the voluntary and maintained sectors) with £500k per 

annum with which to directly address sector-led workforce development needs.  

 

Committee Recommendation 2:  

The Minister should hold urgent discussions with the Ministerial Youth Work Reference 

Group to address the concerns from within the sector about a lack of engagement from 

Welsh Government.  

Accepted by the Welsh Government 

Welsh Government Response  

We have:  

– Held urgent discussions at Ministerial level with the Youth Work Reference Group.  

– Refreshed the remit of the group and begun extending their membership.  

– Recognised the key role they play in supporting both the sector and Welsh Government 

in delivering and implementing policy.  

– Tasked them with considering the draft report produced by Margaret Jervis, MBE DL.  

– Drawn on their expertise and knowledge to inform the development of the new 

curriculum for Wales.  

Tudalen y pecyn 56



 

 

– Received positive feedback from the Youth Work Reference Group on this new 

approach.  

 

We will:  

– Continue to use the Youth Work Reference Group strategically, with regular 

engagement from Welsh Government to inform developing approaches.  

– Commission them to begin work in supporting Welsh Government to develop a new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales.  

– Ensure alignment with the proposed Interim Youth Work Board, both in its 

development and when operational.  

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 2:  

Other than a brief appearance by the former Minister, the YWRG has not had ‘urgent 

discussions’ at that level. As members of the YWRG, CWVYS would welcome the 

opportunity to take part in dialogue with the Minister within that forum and as part of 

the agenda that she set at the 2018 National Youth Work Conference.  

We would ask for clarity as to whether the Minister’s vision includes a role for the YWRG 

beyond the date of the establishment of the Interim Youth Work Board. Should those 

plans include the work of the YWRG being absorbed by the Interim Youth Work Board (as 

a sub-group with a specific remit perhaps?), it would be helpful to be made aware of any 

relevant, proposed timescales.  

 

Children in Wales would also like to see an arrangement whereby the work of the Youth 

Work Board is connected to work for young people in other WG Departments to avoid 

Silos of policy making 

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report:  

 

Committee Recommendation 3:  

There should be a clear and meaningful route for young people to be equal partners in 

developing youth services in Wales. This should be developed by the Minister, 

stakeholders and young people.  

Accepted by Welsh Government   

Welsh Government Response  

We have:  

– Ensured young people were engaged with and consulted as part of the ‘Review of the 

Impact of the Youth Work Strategy’.  

– Ensured young people were engaged with and consulted as part of Margaret Jervis’ 

review of Extending Entitlement.  

– Commissioned Children in Wales to undertake a focused piece of work with young 

people to inform Margaret’s work.  

– Undertaken discussions with the Youth Work Reference Group to explore how young 

people can inform the development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy for 

Wales.  

 

We will:  

– Involve young people in the co-construction of the new Youth Work Strategy for Wales.  

– Consider and articulate the role they will play in the design, delivery and monitoring of 

youth services within the new Strategy.  

– Develop an engagement plan, in partnership with young people and stakeholders, to 

ensure this recommendation continues to be fully met going forward.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 57



 

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 3:  

 

In order for ‘clear and meaningful’ routes to be established for young people as equal 

partners in the development of youth services, we would suggest that a better response 

might be one of co-ownership as well as co-construction. A commitment to a rights-

based approach for young people and engagement based on a clear set of entitlements 

is crucial to the success of a genuinely participative model of working.  

 

Attempts at engaging young people via the Youth Work Reference Group in previous 

years were not successful. However, we sense that officials are willing to consider how 

best to implement improved ways of working; the sector is well-placed to offer 

suggestions and solutions.  

 

Such a commitment should be aligned to the UNCRC in relation to the Rights of Children 

and Young Persons (Wales) Measure 2011.  

 

We would also make a plea to recognise the needs of 18-25 year olds in the agreed 

participative approach; an age group that can sometimes be under-represented in terms 

of invitations to engage.  

As highlighted in our reply to recommendation no.1, once agreed, we see great value in 

the Minister taking an opportunity (or opportunities) to present the ‘Youth Work Offer’ 

jointly with, and directly to, young people whilst also announcing how and when the 

youth work sector will play its part in supporting and delivering the ‘Offer’.  

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report:  

 

As we are seeing with the development of the Welsh Youth Parliament and other long-

established youth work-based models of participation, there is significant interest being 

shown by young people in democratic engagement projects. It would be another positive 

step, therefore, to complement the general tone of participation by ensuring a genuine, 

‘meaningful’ approach to the development of youth services.  

 

Committee Recommendation 4:  

The Minister should introduce a national model for Youth Work, encompassing statutory 

and voluntary provision. The Minister should report to this Committee on progress 

within 6 months of the publication of this report.  

Accepted by Welsh Government 

  

Welsh Government Response  

We have:  

– Commissioned Margaret Jervis to undertake a review of Extending Entitlement, which 

included giving consideration to a ‘national model’ encompassing statutory and 

voluntary provision.  

– Commissioned a Review of the Impact of the National Youth Work Strategy which 

makes recommendations on a way forward.  

– Reflected on these findings, which propose potential ‘models’ for delivery in the 

future.  

 

We will:  

– Immediately begin development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy, including 

consideration of an appropriate delivery model.  

Tudalen y pecyn 58



 

 

– Appoint an Interim Youth Work Board, whose remit will include supporting the 

development and implementation of a new strategy, and providing advice on 

appropriate delivery mechanisms.  

– Expand the remit and membership of the Youth Work Reference Group, extending an 

invitation to strategic, local authority representatives, ensuring the new strategy 

balances aspirations and ability to deliver in the current context.  

– Ensure the views of both statutory and voluntary provision are heard as part of its 

development.  

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 4:  

 

The WG response is more focused on the Interim Youth Work Board rather than the 

recommendation itself, which proposes a national model for youth work. This is 

disappointing, as the need for a national approach to the delivery of youth services is as 

relevant, if not more so, than when the Inquiry first considered the merits of such an 

approach. There has not been a great deal of discussion around this issue.  

 

For those reasons, CWVYS makes no apology for re-iterating its commitment to and 

belief in the opportunity to create a National Youth Service which provides for a more 

efficient and cost-effective range of modern services - developed for and with young 

people. Such a National model could ‘commission nationally, manage regionally and 

deliver locally’, overseen by a National Youth Service Council for Wales.  

 

This has been our consistent view since the publication of the CWVYS paper ‘The Future 

of Youth Services in Wales’ in 2012 and the subsequent joint position paper authored by 

CWVYS and the Wales Principal Youth Officers’ Group, as presented to the Youth Work 

Reference Group in  

December 2014. These papers resulted in the WG-commissioned ‘Feasibility Study’ on a 

national model by RezolvPS Ltd, most recently considered by the Youth Work Reference 

Group in September 2015.  

 

We would suggest that the new Interim Youth Work Board consider the model adopted in 

Scotland, where both the voluntary and maintained sectors are represented by YouthLink 

Scotland. A similar model for Wales is achievable and can be made ‘Wales-distinct’ by 

reflecting the needs of young people and the overall sector e.g. parity whilst providing 

as single point of communication for officials and partners in other sectors and being 

accountable for the delivery of youth work in Wales.  

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report:  

 

Committee Recommendation 5:  

The Minister should report back to the Committee within 6 months of the publication of 

this report on how he intends to assess the extent to which his commitment to 

universal, open access provision, in English and Welsh, is being delivered.  

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

  

Welsh Government Response  

 

We have:  

– Reported back to the Committee and acknowledged that the youth work landscape is 

changing in the context of a challenging financial climate.  

– Accepted the role that ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ could play in assessing the extent to 

which universal, open access provision, in English and Welsh, is being delivered.  

Tudalen y pecyn 59



 

 

– Begun exploring the role that ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ will play going forward.  

 

We will:  

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into the new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales.  

– Restate our commitment to the role youth work can play in supporting young people 

to use and develop their Welsh language skills.  

– Engage with young people in the development of the new strategy to develop a current 

understanding of their needs in relation to the type of youth services they wish to 

access, in the language of their choice.  

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 5:  

 

The bedrock of youth work in Wales is its ability to provide a universal, open access 

offer for all young people: a voluntary relationship that provides the foundation for the 

delivery of targeted services, information and support. 

  

Of course, it is recognised that youth work and its ability to deliver according to the 

needs of young people are ever-evolving but was ever thus; it is not fair to use a difficult 

‘financial climate’ to justify the moves that have been made to push youth work 

provision into more targeted areas, thereby creating an imbalance in (not) meeting the 

needs of all young people, confusion amongst youth workers and a weakening of the 

position and sheer importance of open access provision.  

 

Balance of provision is key. CWVYS represents many organisations which deliver both 

open access and targeted provision under one roof. We have alluded to this in previous 

consultations but those youth work providers do not have ‘separate doors’ for ‘different 

types of young people’ but rather work in environments which allow them to be nimble, 

adaptable and resourceful when working with young people: whether that be on specific 

activities relating to health-related issues, for example; or on supporting young people 

with access to learning or employment opportunities.  

 

However, without the initial ’open door’ policy and the essential requirement to provide 

services on a voluntary engagement principle, then youth work becomes something else 

- something that is not youth work. And if the basis of the proposed new National 

Strategy and the Interim Board is ‘Youth Work’ then the balance clearly has to be 

addressed and the sector has to be fully resourced and equipped to deliver accordingly.  

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report:  

 

Committee Recommendation 6:  

Within 6 months of the publication of this report, the Minister should commission an 

exercise to map voluntary Youth Work provision across Wales. The  

exercise should be refreshed periodically.  

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government   

Welsh Government Response  

We have:  

– Reflected on the mapping of voluntary youth work provision undertaken by CWVYS 

(2015) in relation to the Youth Engagement and Progression Framework, and Cordis 

Bright (2016).  

– Reported back to Committee that a national mapping exercise may not be appropriate 

given the rapidly changing context on the ground as services change and adapt.  

Tudalen y pecyn 60



 

 

– Stated our commitment to the concept of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment, 

in planning, delivering, and monitoring youth services.  

 

We will:  

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into the new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales. To ensure agility in an evolving landscape, any 

assessment should give consideration to both statutory and voluntary provision at a 

local, rather than national level.  

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 6:  

 

We would welcome the opportunity to collaborate on work which mapped the voluntary 

youth work sector. The reports highlighted in the WG response refer to exercises based 

on the needs of the Youth Engagement and Progression Framework; this not being a 

mapping of youth work, but rather a specific programme of targeted intervention, 

means that the sector has yet to provide a true reflection of all youth services being 

delivered within the voluntary sector. This is much-needed and would enhanced 

collaboration between not just voluntary and maintained youth work sectors but with 

other sectors and public bodies.  

 

There is a concern that there is too much of an emphasis on ‘sufficiency’ here: unless 

and until the map of delivery is established, how might the notion of ‘sufficiency’ be 

adequately addressed?  

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report:  

 

Committee Recommendation 7:  

 

The Minister should ensure that Youth Work Sufficiency Assessments are undertaken by 

local authorities as part of their population needs assessments and report back to the 

Committee on progress within 6 months of the publication of this report.  

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government  

 

Welsh Government Response  

We have:  

– Accepted the potential role of ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ in the planning, delivery and 

monitoring of youth service provision.  

– Set up a working group in November 2017 to ascertain how these might work in Wales, 

learning from approaches taken forward in the Play sector.  

– Determined that there is a requirement for an assessment to ensure services being 

provided within a local authority area are needed, of the required quality, and delivered 

by the most relevant organisation.  

– Explored what an assessment might look like and concluded that, in the absence of a 

new, long term Youth Work Strategy and vision, that takes us beyond 2018, it is not 

possible to finalise an approach for immediate implementation.  

 

We will:  

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into the new 

Youth Work Strategy for Wales.  

– Co-construct its design in partnership with young people and stakeholders.  

Tudalen y pecyn 61



 

 

– Secure agreement across the sector to the use of Sufficiency Assessments in the 

planning, delivery, and monitoring of youth service provision as part of the new 

strategy.  

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 7:  

We would agree that there is a need for a new National Youth Work Strategy to be in 

place before any potential implementation of ‘sufficient’ provision and also that more 

needs to be done in relation to what constitutes ‘sufficiency’, how it might be assessed 

and ‘co-constructed’ (and beyond that, how it is ‘co-managed, co-delivered and co-

evaluated).  

The YWRG has started to consider’ sufficiency’ post-publication of a report by an 

external consultant. We understand that the deployment of resources is an important 

consideration during a period when services for young people are changing but also 

when youth work can play to its considerable strengths. We hope that the new Interim 

Youth Work Board will consider the ramifications of what is ‘sufficient’ but also how 

accountable (and to whom) any proposed ‘framework’ might be or look like, within a 

business-case approach.  

Are there lessons to be learned from the implementation of ‘sufficiency’ in the play work 

sector?  

In addition, is there an argument that raises the possibility of looking at the interface 

between play work and youth work and an alignment of what ‘sufficiency’ means across 

both sectors?  

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report:  

 

Committee Recommendation 8:  

The Minister should develop an accountability framework for local authorities’ use of 

funds for Youth Work via the revenue support grant. The framework  

should include sanctions if outcomes are not delivered.  

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government  

Welsh Government Response  

We have:  

– Confirmed that the Revenue Support Grant is an un-hypothecated funding stream and 

can be spent at local authorities’ discretion according to their locally identified needs 

and priorities.  

– Confirmed that it is not currently possible to identify how much is spent on youth 

work, due to the pooling of budgets across services at a local level, nor to prescribe an 

amount.  

– Reviewed our existing grant funding streams to consider how they might better 

support the desired outcomes of youth work and youth support services.  

– Begun implementing changes to grant funding mechanisms, ensuring a greater focus 

on impact, rather than output.  

– Explored an outcomes framework for youth work in the context of the current 

strategy.  

 

We will:  

– Publish the reviews of the Youth Work Grants.  

– Continue to learn from them by keeping them under regular review.  

– Establish an Interim Youth Work Board to support the development of a new Youth 

Work Strategy, and advise on approaches for deploying resources appropriately, 

including any unintended consequences.  

Tudalen y pecyn 62



 

 

– Secure agreement across the sector to the use of ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ in the 

planning, delivery, and monitoring of youth service provision as part of a new strategy. 

This will include consideration of their role in a new accountability framework for youth 

services across local authority and voluntary provision 

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 8:  

Why is it not possible to ‘identify how much is spent on youth work, due to the pooling 

of budgets across services at a local level’? We might seek to ask questions here about 

accountability and the auditing of such resources.  

In addition, if there is no clarity on the ‘starting position’ i.e. just how much resource is 

being made available and how much is being spent on youth services, then how can a 

position be taken as to what constitutes a ‘sufficient’ response to that situation?  

The non-hypothecation of allocated funding under the Revenue Support Grant continues 

to only support variations in spend across local authority areas. Again, we would ask, as 

we did during the Inquiry: how feasible is an equitable ‘Youth Work Offer’ for young 

people living in all areas of Wales if and when available resource is utilised in such a 

non-uniform manner.  

The YWRG has started to consider’ sufficiency’ post-publication of a report by an 

external consultant. We understand that the deployment of resources is an important 

consideration during a period when services for young people are changing but also 

when youth work can play to its considerable strengths. We hope that the new Interim 

Youth Work Board will consider the ramifications of what is ‘sufficient’ but also how 

accountable (and to whom) any proposed ‘framework’ might be or look like, within a 

business-case approach.  

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report:  

 

Committee Recommendation 9:  

The Minister should explore the potential continuation of Erasmus+ funding, should the 

UK Government decide not to do so.  

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government  

Welsh Government Response  

We have:  

– Confirmed our commitment towards a credible, evidenced based approach towards 

withdrawal from the EU.  

 

We will:  

– Continue to advocate for an approach that places Wales’ priorities centre stage, while 

responding to the UK’s priorities as a whole.  

– Continue dialogue with UK Government counterparts, addressing the role of Erasmus+ 

funding in the UK context.  

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 9:  

 

European funding and access to European programmes for training and co-operation has 

enhanced Wales’ reputation as an outward-looking welcoming and positive nation, with 

young people very much at the heart of that approach. Those programmes assist in the 

delivery of hugely significant youth work projects, international volunteering exchanges 

and learning opportunities for young people and youth workers from within Wales and 

across other European nations.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 63



 

 

Until 2020, the Erasmus+ budget of 14.7 billion Euro will be utilised for the 

development of knowledge and skills. Two-thirds of that amount is to be used to 

provide support for more than 4 million people to study, train, gain work experience or 

volunteer. 1 billion Euro has been allocated to the UK between 2014-2020. Wales-based 

projects are expected to be in receipt of 6-7 million Euro during that time.  

 

The limited response from the WG is indicative of an approach that has not maximised 

the opportunities afforded by Erasmus+ and other European opportunities. CWVYS has 

established very good links with the National (UK) Agencies – British Council and Ecorys 

UK – on behalf of the voluntary youth work sector and we are still the sole partner in 

Wales of Eurodesk UK – an important resource-and-information-rich source for the 

development of Europe-wide support, funding, engagement and learning opportunities. 

A number of our member organisations and young people (and CWVYS) have benefited 

directly and indirectly from that introduction to European programmes via CWVYS. An 

example here would be the European Voluntary Service (EVS) model and its soon-to-

come successor scheme the European Solidarity Corps.  

 

CWVYS (and before us, ProMo Cymru) held the Wales membership for the European 

Youth Information and Counselling Agency (ERYICA), which has now reverted back to the 

WG. It was a very positive step by officials to invite ERYICA to deliver a workshop session 

at the recent National Youth Work Conference and to also discuss future links as a result 

of that appearance. We sincerely hope that this membership link can be exploited to its 

fullest potential on behalf of and with the youth work sector in Wales.  

 

It was also good to see that Ecorys UK were invited to, and did, deliver a workshop 

session on Erasmus+ funding opportunities at the National Conference. Such links are 

vitally important if Wales is to obtain its share of resource in, and enjoy positive 

participation of, Erasmus+.  

 

Children in Wales is also active in the EU as a founder member of Eurochild in which it is 

still involved as both a member and on the Management Board. This will continue post 

Brexit.  Children in Wales has also been commissioned by WG to consult with children 

and young people so they can express their views to WG about Brexit.  There are many 

areas where Children in Wales and CWYVS can work together to ensure that children and 

young people in Wales do not lose out in the future, but also that new opportunities can 

be explored. 

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report:  

CWVYS has been active in supporting work on Brexit and the impact on young people in 

Wales and the UK: this has manifested itself in work completed via Demos, MyLifeMySay 

, the #KeepErasmusPlus campaign and the All-Party Parliamentary Group on Brexit, 

amongst several other forums. 

  

Committee Recommendation 10:  

The Minister should ensure that the statutory and voluntary Youth Work sector play a 

central role in the process of curriculum reform.  

Accepted by Welsh Government  

 

Welsh Government Response  

We have:  

– Confirmed statutory and voluntary representation on the Education Reform Strategic 

Stakeholder Group.  

Tudalen y pecyn 64



 

 

– Engaged the Youth Work Reference Group (with representatives from both statutory 

and voluntary sectors) with the process of Curriculum Reform.  

 

We will:  

– Continue to ensure appropriate mechanisms for ensuring the statutory and voluntary 

youth work sector play a central role in the process of curriculum reform.  

– Consider and articulate the links and alignment between formal education and youth 

work in the new Youth Work Strategy for Wales.  

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 10:  

CWVYS is a member of the Strategic Stakeholder Group. Whilst this provides an 

opportunity to highlight the benefits of informal and non-formal education within 

curriculum reform developments, the main focus remains the development of the formal 

education sector’s approach and responses to the curriculum within schools. The 

challenge, therefore, continues to be that of supporting a co-ordinated, consistent and 

collaborative effort to ensure that youth work is represented at that strategic level.  

It is to be hoped that there will be opportunities to strengthen the case for youth work 

and its benefits within the new curriculum as a result of the forming of the Interim 

Youth Work Board and also the presumed, outward-facing consultation exercises ahead 

of the development of the new National Youth Work Strategy. The opportunity to invite 

formal educators to those discussions needs to be seized upon in order to again 

‘present the case’ for youth work in both strategic and operational fora.  

Children in Wales is also a member of the Group and has been concerned that children 

and young people’s views have not really been taken on board at a national level despite 

the huge opportunities this reform programme offers. 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report:  

In its capacity as a member of the Third Sector Partnership Council (chaired by the 

Cabinet Secretary for Local Government and Public Bodies) and the Third 

Sector/Education Group (chaired by the Cabinet Secretary for Education and attended by 

the Minister for the Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning), CWVYS also has the 

opportunity to highlight the benefits of, and alignments with, youth work and formal 

education.  

A sub-group of the Third Sector/Education Group carries out liaison work between the 

Education Workforce Council and the wider third sector; CWVYS attends the sub-group 

for the voluntary youth work sector.  

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 65



CYPE(5)-14-18 – Papur 5 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales 

Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg | Children, Young People and Education 

Committee 

Gwaith Ieuenctid – gwaith dilynol | Youth Work - Follow up 

YW(2) 08 

Ymateb gan: Youth Cymru 

Response from: Youth Cymru 
 

Committee Recommendation 1:  

The Minister should review the National Strategy and refresh the statutory guidance in 

consultation with stakeholders and young people. A detailed action plan for 

implementation, including timescales, must be developed alongside a new strategy. 

 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

 

Welsh Government Response 

 

We have:  

– Commissioned Wrexham Glyndwr University, Cardiff Metropolitan University, 

and Susanne Rauprich OBE, to review the impact of the National Youth Work 

Strategy. A final report has been received and is being prepared for 

publication. This work was informed by stakeholders and young people.  

– Commissioned Margaret Jervis, MBE DL, to review Extending Entitlement. A 

final report has been submitted and is being prepared for publication. This 

work was informed by stakeholders and young people.  

– Commissioned the Youth Work Reference Group (YWRG), who represent the 

youth work sector, providing advice to Welsh Government, to review 

Margaret’s recommendations and propose a way forward.  

 

We will:  

– Immediately begin development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy.  

– Ensure a long-term vision is built into the strategy, with detailed annual 

planning, self-evaluation, and review.  

– Co-construct the strategy with young people and stakeholders at all levels in 

the system.  

– Publish Margaret’s Review, the ‘Review of the Impact of the Youth Work 

Strategy’, and associated reviews of grant funding Embed lessons learned, 

including from the Committee’s Inquiry, alongside wider evidence in Wales, 

the UK and beyond.  

– Firmly ground our approaches in the United Nations Convention on the Rights 

of the Child and the Wellbeing for Future Generations Act.  

– Re-establish a Youth Work Offer/Charter at the centre of the new strategy.  

– Include consideration of ‘sufficiency of provision’, and the role of other 

bodies such as service providers, regulators, local authorities, and Welsh 

Government in ensuring rigorous accountability.  

– Develop our approaches in the context and ethos of Extending Entitlement, 

Tudalen y pecyn 66



 

 

with a view toward considering the status of existing statutory guidance, once 

the strategic approach for securing youth work has been developed in 

partnership with stakeholders. 

– Establish an Interim Youth Work Board to support the development of the 

strategy, evaluate approaches for deploying resources, represent the voice of 

the sector, and provide advice to Welsh Government.  

– Publish a timeline setting out how/when this will be delivered.  

– Include consideration of ‘sufficiency of provision’, and the role of other 

bodies such as service providers, regulators, local authorities, and Welsh 

Government in ensuring rigorous accountability.  

 

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 1: 

Youth Cymru is a member of the European Confederation of Youth Clubs.  At a recent 

ECYC General Assembly meeting in Brussels discussion with European partners 

highlighted the extent to which Wales is leading the way in providing strategic 

guidance for youth work. Our European colleagues place many of the structures, 

practices and principles already existing in Wales on their “wish lists” – essentially 

Wales should pride itself on being an island of excellent youth work practice. We 

support the valuable contributions provided by the research, reports and 

recommendations carried out to date and recognise that much has been done to 

provided valuable insight into the effectiveness of these strategies and policies – we 

are keen to see Youth Work in Wales further strengthened and developed.  

 

We welcome the development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy. We believe 

the Strategy should be aligned with the 'Youth Work in Wales: Principles and Purposes' 

and include a clear articulation of the role, principles and practices of youth work. 

Historical and ongoing confusion regarding the practice of youth work could be 

unpicked and made transparent by this new strategy, in this way create more insight 

and clarity into how services are developed and delivered. We are aware that there is 

the potential for a lack of clarity around the role of youth work, and for terms such as 

‘youth service’, ‘youth services’ and ‘youth work’ to be used interchangeably and this 

confusion lead to ongoing challenges and confusion.   

We strongly believe that the Strategy should be constructed in partnership with young 

people (reflecting the diversity of ages, locations, demographics and experiences) and 

with the youth work sector, ensuring the engagement of youth workers and volunteers 

working at all levels – not limited to those who have achieved ‘qualified’ and 

‘registered’ status.  

We welcome the recommendation in ‘Our Future: A Review of Extending Entitlement’ 

that the Strategy sets out a long-term vision for youth work in Wales. We believe that 

the Strategy should include strategic guidance, while recognising there cannot be a 

‘one size fits all’ approach to youth work, and that the Strategy to be effective should 

recognise and support the need for innovation, creativity and a dynamic response to 

the needs of young people.  

Our support of a new aspirational longer-term Youth Work Strategy is based on our 

understanding that it would provide more consistency and continuity for the sector.  

We would extend this proposal for a longer-term approach to strategic guidance to 

include the provision of longer term grant funding. We stress the importance of 

ensuring the strategy provides more long-term direction and that funding firmly 

Tudalen y pecyn 67



 

 

underpins this. Ensuring resources are available to support the sector is essential in 

assuring the sectors ability to make positive practice responses to strategic aims. Short 

term planning fundamentally undermines the ethos that underpins a youth work 

approach preventing the establishment of the long-term relationships needed to 

maintain the preventative, protective role youth work can play in supporting young 

people.  

We agree that the Strategy should include annual planning, self-evaluation and review 

and that the Strategy should be clearly aligned with the United Nations Convention on 

the Rights of the Child and the Well-being of Future Generations Act. We see the value 

in building a long-term vison into the strategy, however would seek assurance that this 

process of monitoring and evaluation does not lead to onerous required reporting 

mechanisms for a sector that is already stretch to breaking point – drawing important 

time and resources away from where they are most needed – on the ground, faced to 

face with young people.   

In principle we support the re-establishment a Youth Work Offer/Charter at the centre 

of the new strategy, it would provide young people accessing those services with 

clarity on the quality of the provision, whilst also enabling an organisation a succinct 

bench mark to measure their practice against. Our concerns centre again around the 

extent to which this Offer/Charter could become onerous and tokenistic, which we see 

as a real danger unless youth workers are fully aware of the value to their services and 

“buy” into the benefits it could bring. Given that youth work provision across Wales is 

diverse and different, striking a balance between recognising the diversity of youth 

work practice in Wales, whilst also recognising the underlying principles of good youth 

work practice would need careful consideration when creating the Charter. Links and 

integration into to the existing Quality Mark should be a priority to avoid duplication 

and to create seamless quality assurance structures. With respect to the Quality Mark, 

it has provided vital structure and support ensuring the ongoing development of 

quality youth services in Wales. This mark shouldn’t remain static and stagnant and 

requires regular development to ensure it remains proactive in supporting quality 

youth service provision. For example, the development and integration of young 

people into the assessment process.  

 

We would support the consideration of a sufficiency provision and a joined up 

integrated approach to accountability. We advocate other sectoral examples are 

examined and evaluated to provide insight into value of a “sufficiency provision” 

particularly with regards to how this will assure quality of services and provision. We 

wish to highlight the importance of a sufficiency provision being adequately resources 

and integrated to other relevant strategies, policies and procedures. It is vital that this 

sufficiency process is developed and implemented in a way that ensures evolving 

structures, needs and gaps in provision that can over time continue to meet ever 

changing contextual need. To assure meaningful provision it is vital that we embed 

ongoing consultation with young people, youth workers and practitioners working on 

the ground to ensure that services being provided are meeting dynamic and 

consistently changing needs. 

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

 

Committee Recommendation 2:  

Tudalen y pecyn 68



 

 

The Minister should hold urgent discussions with the Ministerial Youth Work Reference 

Group to address the concerns from within the sector about a lack of engagement 

from Welsh Government. 

 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

 

Welsh Government Response 

 

We have:  

– Held urgent discussions at Ministerial level with the Youth Work Reference 

Group. 

– Refreshed the remit of the group and begun extending their membership. 

– Recognised the key role they play in supporting both the sector and Welsh 

Government in delivering and implementing policy. 

– Tasked them with considering the draft report produced by Margaret Jervis, 

MBE DL. 

– Drawn on their expertise and knowledge to inform the development of the 

new curriculum for Wales. 

– Received positive feedback from the Youth Work Reference Group on this new 

approach. 

 

We will:  

– Continue to use the Youth Work Reference Group strategically, with regular 

engagement from Welsh Government to inform developing approaches. 

– Commission them to begin work in supporting Welsh Government to develop 

a new Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

– Ensure alignment with the proposed Interim Youth Work Board, both in its 

development and when operational. 

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 2: 

 

We value the work of the Youth Work Reference Group and would advocate they remain 

central to the process of developing and informing approaches, however we would 

stress the importance of ensuring they are fully representing the perspective of the 

youth sector. Lack of clarity and communication across the sector regarding their 

membership, aims and purpose would seem to undermine their effectiveness and 

inhibit their potential to give meaningful direction and representation to youth work in 

Wales.  

With regards to ensuring alignment with the proposed Interim Youth Work Board, both 

in its development and future operations primarily we would advocate that more work 

is undertaken to provide clarity and transparency regarding its role, membership and 

proposed processes and mechanisms for consultation, value and relationship with the 

sector. We argue that is it is vital that this board as well as providing continuity of 

engagement is refreshed by new as yet unheard representation including placing an 

emphasis on hearing the voices of young people. 

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 69



 

 

Committee Recommendation 3:  

There should be a clear and meaningful route for young people to be equal partners in 

developing youth services in Wales. This should be developed by the Minister, 

stakeholders and young people. 

 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

 

Welsh Government Response 

 

We have:  

– Ensured young people were engaged with and consulted as part of the 

‘Review of the Impact of the Youth Work Strategy’. 

– Ensured young people were engaged with and consulted as part of Margaret 

Jervis’ review of Extending Entitlement. 

– Commissioned Children in Wales to undertake a focused piece of work with 

young people to inform Margaret’s work. 

– Undertaken discussions with the Youth Work Reference Group to explore how 

young people can inform the development of a new, aspirational Youth Work 

Strategy for Wales. 

 

We will:  

– Involve young people in the co-construction of the new Youth Work Strategy 

for Wales. 

– Consider and articulate the role they will play in the design, delivery and 

monitoring of youth services within the new Strategy. 

– Develop an engagement plan, in partnership with young people and 

stakeholders, to ensure this recommendation continues to be fully met going 

forward. 

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 3: 

It is vital that young people have a clear and meaningful route to be equal partners in 

developing youth services in Wales and that consultation and engagement processes 

are genuine and not merely tokenistic.  

This is aligned with young people’s rights under Article 12 of the United Nations 

Convention on the Rights of the Child, under the Children’s Rights Measure 2011. 

It is important that young people with a diverse range of backgrounds and experiences 

are actively supported to be equal partners in the development of youth services, 

including those with experience of youth justice, those not currently in education, 

employment or training, young carers, BAME young people, LGBT+ young people and 

those with disabilities.  

Young people regularly tell us of their frustration of feeling they are not listened to and 

‘youth participation’ being limited to a small, already engaged group of young people.  

There needs to be a consistent and embedded approach to youth participation and 

engagement across Welsh Government youth work policy and strategy, including the 

development of the new Strategy, the Youth Work Reference Group and the delivery 

and assessment process for the Youth Work Quality Mark.  

Recognising young people as equal partners who are engaged on an ongoing basis in 

the design, delivery and monitoring of youth services is vital. We know there are many 

examples where young people are only involved in initial consultation and are not part 

Tudalen y pecyn 70



 

 

of, or even informed, of the progression and delivery of a new initiative. This can lead 

to ‘consultation fatigue’, disillusionment, a lack of trust and potential future 

disengagement.   

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Committee Recommendation 4:  

The Minister should introduce a national model for Youth Work, encompassing 

statutory and voluntary provision. The Minister should report to this Committee on 

progress within 6 months of the publication of this report. 

 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

 

Welsh Government Response 

 

We have:  

– Commissioned Margaret Jervis to undertake a review of Extending 

Entitlement, which included giving consideration to a ‘national model’ 

encompassing statutory and voluntary provision. 

– Commissioned a Review of the Impact of the National Youth Work Strategy 

which makes recommendations on a way forward. 

– Reflected on these findings, which propose potential ‘models’ for delivery in 

the future. 

 

We will:  

– Immediately begin development of a new, aspirational Youth Work Strategy, 

including consideration of an appropriate delivery model. 

– Appoint an Interim Youth Work Board, whose remit will include supporting 

the development and implementation of a new strategy, and providing advice 

on appropriate delivery mechanisms. 

– Expand the remit and membership of the Youth Work Reference Group, 

extending an invitation to strategic, local authority representatives, ensuring 

the new strategy balances aspirations and ability to deliver in the current 

context. 

– Ensure the views of both statutory and voluntary provision are heard as part 

of its development. 

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 4: 

Youth Cymru strongly welcomes the assertion that a new aspirational Youth Work 

Strategy is implemented and developed. We in principle support and acknowledge that 

there could be value in including an appropriate delivery model. 

However, we have concerns that such a model runs the risk of being overly proscriptive 

and potentially restrictive and detrimental to creativity and innovation. The statutory 

and voluntary youth sector is a diverse and its strength and effectiveness relies in the 

ability of different sectorial organisations to adapt and respond to changing needs. An 

appropriate delivery model would need to balance the varying needs of sector 

organisations with the need to apply overarching quality assuring youth work 

standards, principles and processes.   

An interim youth work board is welcomed and it is hoped that this will ensure efficient 

and effective development and implementation that is reflective of the voices and 

Tudalen y pecyn 71



 

 

needs of the different and diverse sectorial practitioner and organisations. More clarity 

regarding the role of this group and who it can be accessed would be welcomed by the 

sector.   

We welcome the expansion of the membership of the Youth Work References Group – 

see our previous comments in Recommendations 2. Further inclusion of the voluntary 

sector and statutory sector would be welcomed, we would also advocate that young 

people’s perspective and voice is strengthened as well as enabling the grassroot youth 

facing practitioner’s engagement and involvement.  

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

 

Committee Recommendation 5:  

The Minister should report back to the Committee within 6 months of the publication 

of this report on how he intends to assess the extent to which his commitment to 

universal, open access provision, in English and Welsh, is being delivered. 

 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

 

Welsh Government Response 

 

We have:  

– Reported back to the Committee and acknowledged that the youth work 

landscape is changing in the context of a challenging financial climate. 

– Accepted the role that ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ could play in assessing the 

extent to which universal, open access provision, in English and Welsh, is 

being delivered. 

– Begun exploring the role that ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ will play going 

forward. 

 

We will:  

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into 

the new Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

– Restate our commitment to the role youth work can play in supporting young 

people to use and develop their Welsh language skills. 

– Engage with young people in the development of the new strategy to develop 

a current understanding of their needs in relation to the type of youth 

services they wish to access, in the language of their choice. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 5: 

We would support the consideration of a sufficiency provision and a possible 

assessment process.  We advocate other sectoral examples are examined and 

evaluated to provide insight into value of a “sufficiency provision” particularly with 

regards to how this will assure quality of services and provision. As stated in 

Recommendation 1 we would wish to highlight the importance of a sufficiency 

provision being adequately resources and integrated to other relevant strategies, 

policies and procedures. It is vital that this sufficiency process is developed and 

implemented in a way that ensures evolving structure, needs and gaps in provision 

that can meeting ever changing contextual need. To assure meaningful provision it is 

vital that we embed ongoing consultation with young people, youth workers and 

practitioners working on the ground to ensure that services being provided are 

Tudalen y pecyn 72



 

 

meeting dynamic and consistently meeting changing needs. Finally, we would like 

assurance that this provision is developed in a meaningful, integrated and structurally 

supportive way to avoid it running the risk of becoming a structural barrier that 

inhibits youth work from using their scarce resource to effectively engage with young 

people at a grass roots level. 

 

 We value the recognition of the role youth work can play in supporting young people 

to use and develop their Welsh language skills and we strongly support the need for 

young people to be engaged in the development of the new Strategy to develop a 

current understanding of their needs in relation to the type of youth services they wish 

to access, in the language of their choice. We would advocate that thought is given to 

issues experienced, often by the voluntary sector, when accessing funding from grant 

giving organisations unfamiliar with the Wales and its bilingual context, experience 

across the sector suggests that grant applicants in Wales can in some cases can 

experience disadvantage.   

 

 

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

 

Committee Recommendation 6:  

Within 6 months of the publication of this report, the Minister should commission an 

exercise to map voluntary Youth Work provision across Wales. The exercise should be 

refreshed periodically. 

 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

 

Welsh Government Response 

 

We have:  

– Reflected on the mapping of voluntary youth work provision undertaken by 

CWVYS (2015) in relation to the Youth Engagement and Progression 

Framework, and Cordis Bright (2016). 

– Reported back to Committee that a national mapping exercise may not be 

appropriate given the rapidly changing context on the ground as services 

change and adapt. 

– Stated our commitment to the concept of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its 

assessment, in planning, delivering, and monitoring youth services. 

 

We will:  

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into 

the new Youth Work Strategy for Wales. To ensure agility in an evolving 

landscape, any assessment should give consideration to both statutory and 

voluntary provision at a local, rather than national level. 

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 6: 

We would support incorporating the notion of “sufficiency provision” and its 

assessment into the Youth Work Strategy for Wales. See our comments on 

Recommendation 1 where we advocate that other sectoral examples are examined and 

Tudalen y pecyn 73



 

 

evaluated to provide insight into value of a “sufficiency provision” as well as to identify 

learning on how their application can assure benefit.  

We would wish to highlight the importance of a sufficiency provision being adequately 

resources and integrated to other relevant strategies, policies and procedures. It is 

vital that this sufficiency process is developed and implemented in a way that ensures 

evolving structure, needs and gaps in provision that can meeting ever changing 

contextual need. To assure meaningful provision it is vital that we embed ongoing 

consultation with young people, youth workers and practitioners working on the 

ground to ensure that services being provided are meeting dynamic and consistently 

changing needs. 

 

We would like to highlight that, for example, a voluntary sector youth organisation will 

be responding to the diverse needs of a variety of funders who will have their own 

agenda, aims and hence practice requirement. This provides this sector with vital 

insight in to this evolving landscape and requires them to be dynamic and resourceful 

in how they provide quality youth services. In developing this “sufficiency of provision” 

it would be vital to ensure it represents the varied contexts that exist within the third 

sector.  

 

With reference to this evolving landscape we would suggest that changes have 

occurred in terms of voluntary sector provision and that mapping should become a 

regular ongoing process that reflects recent and future changes in provision in the 

voluntary and statutory sector. 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

 

Committee Recommendation 7:  

The Minister should ensure that Youth Work Sufficiency Assessments are undertaken 

by local authorities as part of their population needs assessments and report back to 

the Committee on progress within 6 months of the publication of this report. 

 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

 

Welsh Government Response 

 

We have:  

– Accepted the potential role of ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ in the planning, 

delivery and monitoring of youth service provision. 

– Set up a working group in November 2017 to ascertain how these might work 

in Wales, learning from approaches taken forward in the Play sector. 

– Determined that there is a requirement for an assessment to ensure services 

being provided within a local authority area are needed, of the required 

quality, and delivered by the most relevant organisation. 

– Explored what an assessment might look like and concluded that, in the 

absence of a new, long term Youth Work Strategy and vision, that takes us 

beyond 2018, it is not possible to finalise an approach for immediate 

implementation. 

 

We will:  

Tudalen y pecyn 74



 

 

– Incorporate the notion of ‘sufficiency of provision’ and its assessment into 

the new Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

– Co-construct its design in partnership with young people and stakeholders. 

– Secure agreement across the sector to the use of Sufficiency Assessments in 

the planning, delivery, and monitoring of youth service provision as part of 

the new strategy. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 7: 

We would support the consideration of a sufficiency provision and a possible 

assessment process.  As stated in Recommendation 1 we would wish to highlight the 

importance of a sufficiency provision being adequately resourced and integrated to 

other relevant strategies, policies and procedures. It is vital that this sufficiency 

process is developed and implemented in a way that ensures evolving structure, needs 

and gaps in provision that can meeting ever changing contextual need. To assure 

meaningful provision it is vital that we embed ongoing consultation with young people, 

youth workers and practitioners working on the ground to ensure that services being 

provided are meeting dynamic and consistently changing needs. Finally, we would like 

assurance that this provision is developed in a meaningful, integrated and structurally 

supportive way to avoid it running the risk of becoming a structural barrier that 

inhibits youth work from using scarce resource to effectively engage with young 

people at a grass level way.   

We would be interested to hear proposals regarding how Sufficiency Assessments in 

planning, delivery and monitoring of youth service provision will integrate the third 

sector and the youth work provision that is provided and resourced by a disparate 

group of funding providers.  

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

 

Committee Recommendation 8:  

The Minister should develop an accountability framework for local authorities’ use of 

funds for Youth Work via the revenue support grant. The framework should include 

sanctions if outcomes are not delivered. 

 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

 

Welsh Government Response 

 

We have:  

– Confirmed that the Revenue Support Grant is an un-hypothecated funding 

stream and can be spent at local authorities’ discretion according to their 

locally identified needs and priorities. 

– Confirmed that it is not currently possible to identify how much is spent on 

youth work, due to the pooling of budgets across services at a local level, nor 

to prescribe an amount. 

– Reviewed our existing grant funding streams to consider how they might 

better support the desired outcomes of youth work and youth support 

services. 

– Begun implementing changes to grant funding mechanisms, ensuring a 

greater focus on impact, rather than output. 

Tudalen y pecyn 75



 

 

– Explored an outcomes framework for youth work in the context of the current 

strategy. 

 

We will:  

– Publish the reviews of the Youth Work Grants. 

– Continue to learn from them by keeping them under regular review. 

– Establish an Interim Youth Work Board to support the development of a new 

Youth Work Strategy, and advise on approaches for deploying resources 

appropriately, including any unintended consequences. 

– Secure agreement across the sector to the use of ‘Sufficiency Assessments’ in 

the planning, delivery, and monitoring of youth service provision as part of a 

new strategy. This will include consideration of their role in a new 

accountability framework for youth services across local authority and 

voluntary provision. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 8: 

 We welcome the development of an accountability framework for local 

authorities’ use of funds and see value in publishing reviews of Youth Work Grants. We 

have interest in how these reviews would serve to benefit the youth work experience of 

young people and would advocate an approach that ensures “reviews” are a 

meaningful, developmentally positive process.  

Learning and sharing learning from regular reviews should we believe be fundamental 

to development, growth and progression across the sector. Evaluation and monitoring 

of provision provides an excellent framework for continued learning. Our concerns 

centre around how this ethos and culture of learning is promoted and supported 

across such a changing and varied landscape of practice. The voluntary and statutory 

sector are arguably only beginning to develop shared practice relationships and work 

is still to be done to ensure this fledgling partnership approach continues to develop. 

In this respect securing agreements across the sector of the use of “Sufficiency 

Assessments” in planning, delivery and monitoring of youth service provision, though 

clearly a very positive aspiration could be challenging in the current practice context.   

We support the sufficiency assessment specifically in relation to the issues regarding 

indicative funds provided for local authorities through the Revenue Support Grant. A 

strong argument exists asserting the potential for sufficiency statement to be an 

integral tool to bring about the “ring-fencing” of budgets ensuring youth services are 

protected consistently across Wales in all local authorities. We see this a vital move 

toward protecting youth service provide across Wales.    

Any accountability framework would need to ensure local authorities had the ability to 

be dynamic and responsive to the evolving needs of young people, it must be noted 

that there is a need to provide guidance and accountability, while ensuring that 

innovation and creativity are not stifled or restricted.  

 

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

Committee Recommendation 9:  

The Minister should explore the potential continuation of Erasmus+ funding, should 

the UK Government decide not to do so. 

 

Accepted in Principle by Welsh Government 

 

Welsh Government Response 

Tudalen y pecyn 76



 

 

 

We have:  

– Confirmed our commitment towards a credible, evidenced based approach 

towards withdrawal from the EU. 

 

We will:  

– Continue to advocate for an approach that places Wales’ priorities centre 

stage, while responding to the UK’s priorities as a whole. 

– Continue dialogue with UK Government counterparts, addressing the role of 

Erasmus+ funding in the UK context. 

 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 9: 

Youth Cymru, along with many of our member organisations across Wales, have 

benefited from Erasmus+ funding. Our recent project brought together young people 

from across the UK and Ireland with members of the British-Irish Parliamentary 

Assembly to discuss the issues affecting young people from across the five nations. 

Erasmus+ benefits the sector through additional resources, networks, cultural 

exchange and the sharing of good practice across Europe.  

We know from our membership of the European Confederation of Youth Clubs (ECYC) 

that youth work policy in Wales is envied by youth workers and organisations across 

Wales. However, without the opportunities for collaboration and partnerships which 

Erasmus+ provides, it is possible that the unique position of youth work in Wales will 

be overlooked by Europe.   

We are keen to see strengthened relationships between youth work in Wales and 

European partners, enabling cultural exchange and the dissemination and sharing of 

good practice, including in ‘new’ areas such as radicalisation and online hate speech.  

We support the recommendation that the potential continuation of Erasmus+ funding 

should be explored and that any approach should place Wales priorities, and the 

priorities of young people, centre stage.  

 

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

 

Committee Recommendation 10:  

The Minister should ensure that the statutory and voluntary Youth Work sector play a 

central role in the process of curriculum reform. 

 

Accepted by Welsh Government 

 

Welsh Government Response 

 

We have:  

– Confirmed statutory and voluntary representation on the Education Reform 

Strategic Stakeholder Group. 

– Engaged the Youth Work Reference Group (with representatives from both 

statutory and voluntary sectors) with the process of Curriculum Reform. 

 

We will:  

– Continue to ensure appropriate mechanisms for ensuring the statutory and 

voluntary youth work sector play a central role in the process of curriculum 

reform. 

Tudalen y pecyn 77



 

 

– Consider and articulate the links and alignment between formal education 

and youth work in the new Youth Work Strategy for Wales. 

Stakeholder Response to Recommendation 10: 

Youth Cymru values the representation of statutory and voluntary organisations on the 

Education Reform and Strategic Stakeholders Group and acknowledge the importance 

and benefit of their engagement with the process of curriculum reform. We would 

advocate that this representation is further extended to include additional youth work 

representatives drawn from the voluntary and statutory sector. 

We welcome the proposal to continue to ensure appropriate mechanisms for the 

statutory and voluntary youth work sector to play a central role in the process of 

curriculum reform. It is important, and we would advocate that these mechanisms are 

made more transparent providing more clarity and information to the youth sector, 

specifically providing opportunities to enable further and future contributions.  

Strengthened lines of communication would enhance the work currently being carried 

out to ensure statutory and voluntary youth work play a central role in curriculum 

reform ensuring practitioner perspectives are fully acknowledged and integrated.    

We are concerned that the perspectives of youth workers on the ground, who have 

essential and valuable grassroot insights and contributions to make are not aware of 

the work of the Education Reform Strategic Stakeholders Group nor enabled to engage 

with the process of curriculum reform – they are placed on the periphery rather than 

taking a central role.  

Any other relevant issues arising since the publication of the Committee’s report: 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 78



Kirsty Williams AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Kirsty.Williams@llyw.cymru 

  Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref : 
Ein cyf/Our ref: MA-P/KW/1239/18 

Lynne Neagle AC 

Cadeirydd Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 

Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1NA 

27 Ebrill 2018 

Annwyl Lynne, 

Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 19 Ebrill yn gofyn am wybodaeth bellach am Grŵp 
Rhanddeiliaid Adnoddau Addysgol Dwyieithog. 

Sefydlwyd y grŵp yn dilyn yr uwchgynhadledd a gynhaliwyd y llynedd i drafod sut y gallwn 
ni weithio gyda’n gilydd i ddod o hyd i atebion i’r oedi a brofwyd wrth lunio rhai adnoddau yn 
ystod y rownd ddiweddaraf o ddiwygio cymwysterau. Mae’r grŵp yn edrych ar y trefniadau 
ar gyfer cynhyrchu adnoddau addysgol yng Nghymru yn y dyfodol, a fydd yn sicrhau bod 
adnoddau dwyieithog ar gael ar yr un pryd â rhai Saesneg. Mae’r grŵp yn cyfarfod bob 
deufis ac yn dod â chynrychiolwyr rhanddeiliaid allweddol ynghyd gan gynnwys 
cyhoeddwyr, y cyfryngau a’r sector creadigol, Cyngor Llyfrau Cymru, Cymwysterau Cymru a 
CBAC. 

Nid yw datblygu isadeiledd i gynhyrchu adnoddau ar gyfer y cwricwlwm a’r cymwysterau 
newydd yng Nghymru yn dasg syml ac nid oes ffordd gyflym o’i chwmpas hi. Bydd y grŵp 
yn ymchwilio i nifer o fodelau posibl o’r modd y gallwn drefnu pethau yn y dyfodol a byddwn 
yn hapus i ddarparu’r diweddariadau i’r Pwyllgor bob chwarter wrth i’r gwaith fynd rhagddo. 
Mae’r materion a drafodwyd hyd yn hyn yn cynnwys: datblygu gallu ac arbenigedd yng 
Nghymru ym maes cyhoeddi addysgol (gan gynnwys awduron); cyllid a’r amserlen ar gyfer 
cynhyrchu adnoddau ar gyfer y cwricwlwm newydd a’r cymwysterau cysylltiedig. Mae’r grŵp 
yn ystyried y prosesau a modelau presennol a bydd hefyd yn dysgu o brofiadau a modelau 
gwledydd eraill sy’n cyhoeddi mewn dwy iaith. Rhwng nawr a mis Ebrill 2019, pan fydd y 
cwricwlwm newydd ar gael ar gyfer gwneud sylwadau arno, bydd cynigion yn cael eu 
datblygu ar gyfer diwallu anghenion y cwricwlwm newydd a’i gymwysterau. 

CYPE(5)-14-18 – Papur i'w nodi 1 

Tudalen y pecyn 79

Eitem 5.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Kirsty.Williams@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales


 

 

Yn y cyfamser, rwy’n parhau i fod wedi ymroi’n llwyr i i wella’r sefyllfa o ran adnoddau, a’u 
bod ar gael yn Gymraeg ac yn Saesneg ar yr un pryd i gefnogi cymwysterau. O ran 
adnoddau newydd/ sydd ar y gweill, rwy’n falch o ddweud bod CBAC wedi cynnal 
trafodaethau gyda  dau o’r prif ddarparwyr ym maes gwerslyfrau, sef  Illuminate Publishing 
a Hodder, ac wedi dod i ddealltwriaeth y bydd fersiynau Saesneg yn cael eu dal yn ôl am 
wyth wythnos i ganiatáu i’r fersiynau Cymraeg gael eu llunio ac y bydd y ddwy iaith yn cael 
eu cyhoeddi ar yr un pryd. Mae dwy gyfrol wedi’u nodi i dreialu’r broses hon. 
 
Rhaid pwysleisio bod risgiau ynghlwm wrth hyn, yn enwedig mewn perthynas ag ansawdd a 
chywirdeb cynnwys a therminoleg y fersiynau Cymraeg. Fodd bynnag, os nad yw’r fersiwn 
cyfrwng Cymraeg yn barod o fewn cyfnod yr estyniad wyth wythnos, bydd y cyhoeddwyr yn 
rhyddhau’r fersiwn Saesneg yn ôl eu harfer. Os yw’r arbrawf hwn yn llwyddiant yna bydd 
modd mabwysiadu’r drefn hon ar gyfer gwerslyfrau eraill arfaethedig yn y tymor byr.  
 
Rydw i hefyd wedi gofyn i CBAC i ddyrannu nifer o’r teitlau sydd ar y gweill/ yn arfaethedig i 
gyhoeddwyr Cymraeg allanol fel rhan o’r cytundeb grant newydd. Bydd CBAC yn mentora’r 
cwmnïau fel eu bod yn magu hyder wrth ymgymryd â chyhoeddi addysgol ac yn meithrin 
arbenigedd. Yn ogystal, bydd seminarau yn cael eu cynnal â chyhoeddwyr Cymraeg a 
Saesneg yng Nghymru er mwyn datblygu eu dealltwriaeth o faes cyhoeddi addysgol a 
datblygu eu sgiliau a’u hyder wrth gystadlu am waith o’r fath a’i gyflawni. Bydd y seminarau 
hyn yn dechrau ym mis Mehefin. 
 
Rydw i hefyd wedi gofyn i CBAC gomisiynu ymchwil i ddefnydd ymarferwyr, dysgwyr a 
rhieni o adnoddau addysgol Cyfnodau Allweddol 3, 4 a 5. Bydd canlyniadau’r gwaith hwn yn 
rhan o’r broes o wneud penderfyniad ynglŷn â’r gofynion o ran adnoddau yn y dyfodol a 
bydd hefyd yn rhan o drafodaeth y Grŵp Rhanddeiliaid ynghylch modelau ar gyfer  y 
dyfodol. Bydd y gwaith ymchwil hwn yn dechrau ym mis Mai a bydd y canlyniadau gennym 
yn yr hydref. 
 
Rwy’n gobeithio bod yr ymateb hwn o ddefnydd i chi. 
 
 
 
Yn gywir 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Kirsty Williams AC/AM 

Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 

Tudalen y pecyn 80



Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru 

Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Huw Irranca-Davies AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Gofal Cymdeithasol a Phlant 
Minister for Children and Social Care  

Ein cyf/Our ref: MA - P/HID/1565/18 

Lynne Neagle AC  
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1NA 

 2 Mai 2018 

Annwyl Lynne 

Yn dilyn cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg yr oeddwn yn bresennol ynddo ar 
18 Ebrill, cytunais i ysgrifennu atoch er mwyn rhoi nodyn ar y sail resymegol dros y cynnig 
gofal plant sy’n dechrau yn y tymor ar ôl pen-blwydd y plentyn yn dair oed ac asesiad 
Llywodraeth Cymru ar effaith bosibl y dull hwn ar blant a gaiff eu geni yn yr haf. 

Fel y gwyddoch, dwy elfen sydd i’r cynnig gofal plant: yr hawl sydd gan bob plentyn 3-4 oed 
ar hyn o bryd i gael addysg gynnar a’r oriau ychwanegol o ofal plant a ddarperir ar gyfer 
rhieni sy’n gweithio. Mae’r adeg y mae plant yn dod yn gymwys i gael gofal plant drwy’r 
cynnig yn cydredeg â’r adeg y maent hefyd yn dod yn gymwys i gael eu haddysg gynnar, 
sef y tymor ar ôl eu pen-blwydd yn dair oed. Mae hyn yn angenrheidiol er mwyn sicrhau bod 
dwy elfen y cynnig yn dechrau ar yr un pryd a bod y cynnig yn gyffredinol yn hawdd i rieni, 
darparwyr ac awdurdodau lleol ei ddeall. 

Nid yw plant yn gymwys ar gyfer y cynnig mwyach unwaith eu bod yn dechrau addysg 
amser llawn. Dyna’r adeg y maent yn dechrau cael dros 30 awr o addysg gynnar bob 
wythnos. 

Bydd nifer y tymhorau y gall plentyn fanteisio ar y cynnig gofal plant yn dibynnu ar ba bryd y 
ganed y plentyn. Fodd bynnag, byddai safoni nifer y tymhorau y gall plant gael gofal plant o 
dan y cynnig yn creu annhegwch yn y system, gan y gallai rhai rhieni fanteisio ar un elfen 
o’r cynnig yn gynt na rhieni eraill. Byddai hefyd yn golygu na fyddai dwy elfen y cynnig, 
addysg gynnar a gofal plant, yn cydredeg mwyach ac na allai rhai rhieni fanteisio ar ddwy 
elfen y cynnig o’r un adeg. 

CYPE(5)-14-18 - Papur i'w nodi 2

Tudalen y pecyn 81

Eitem 5.2

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales


Hoffwn hefyd achub ar y cyfle hwn i egluro fy sylwadau yn y pwyllgor ynglŷn â’r ymrwymiad i 
gynyddu’r Ddarpariaeth Gofal Plant Cymraeg drwy gyllido Mudiad Meithrin i greu grwpiau 
meithrin cyfrwng Cymraeg newydd. Hoffwn egluro mai sefydlu 40, yn hytrach na 30, o 
grwpiau meithrin cyfrwng Cymraeg newydd erbyn 2021 yw’r ymrwymiad. Mae hyn yn rhan o 
darged ehangach i sefydlu 150 o grwpiau meithrin cyfrwng Cymraeg newydd dros y degawd 
nesaf.  
 
Yn gwir  
 

 
 
 
Huw Irranca-Davies AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Gofal Cymdeithasol a Phlant  
Minister for Children and Social Care 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Tudalen y pecyn 82


	Agenda
	2 Gwaith Ieuenctid - dilyniant - sesiwn dystiolaeth 1
	CYPE(5)-14-18 - Papur 1 - Llythyr gan y Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes
	CYPE(5)-14-18 – Papur 2 - Cyngor Cymreig y Gwasanaethau Ieuenctid Gwirfoddol (CWVYS) (Saesneg yn unig)

	3 Gwaith Ieuenctid - dilyniant - sesiwn dystiolaeth 2
	4 Gwaith Ieuenctid - dilyniant - sesiwn dystiolaeth 3
	CYPE(5)-14-18 - Papur 5 - Ieuenctid Cymru (Saesneg yn unig)

	5.1 Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg - rhagor o wybodaeth am y Grŵp Rhanddeiliaid Adnoddau Addysgol Dwyieithog
	5.2 Llythyr gan y Gweinidog Gofal Cymdeithasol a Phlant – rhagor o wybodaeth yn dilyn y cyfarfod ar 18 Ebrill

